PLANNING COMMITTEE

AGENDA

Date:

Thursday, 23rd June, 2022

Time:

1.30 pm

Venue:

The Guildhall

PLANNING COMMITTEE
Information for Members of the Public
Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street. The nearest car park is
Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, access
to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt as you face the
Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall. There is dedicated disabled parking
space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings are held on the ground floor, which
can be reached by using a lift. If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility and you wish to
attend a meeting, please telephone or email the officer mentioned below in advance and we will make
any necessary arrangements to assist your visit.
Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public. You have the right to inspect copies of
Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents used in the
preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the foot of each report. Part II
of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for which it is anticipated that
the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor background papers are open to
public inspection.
Please note that this is a public meeting and members of the public and press are permitted to report
on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio recording and
providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the
proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. Accordingly, the
attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and broadcast. By choosing to
attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your consent to being filmed or recorded and
for any footage to be broadcast or published.
Please note the Council records and live streams many of its meetings. These recordings are published
on the relevant meeting pages of the Council’s website. A notice to this effect will be posted in the
meeting room. If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council he/she will
be deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to the
Council’s website. The Chair of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend recording, if
in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if they consider
that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any statutory provision.
At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed
for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the
Agenda. Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 p.m. on the last working day
before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned below.
If you have any general enquires or queries about this Agenda or require any details of background
papers, further documents or information, or to discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs,
film, video or sound recording please contact the Lead Officer, Margaret Johnson, Democratic Services
Administrator, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY. Telephone: 01905 722085 (direct line); E-Mail Address:
committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk.
This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic
minority languages. Please contact the above named officer for further information.
Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also available
electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website Address:
worcester.gov.uk

2

Planning Committee
Thursday, 23 June 2022
Members of the Committee:-

Chair: Councillor Chris Mitchell (C)
Vice-Chair: Councillor Patricia Agar (LCo)
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor

Mel Allcott (LD)
Alan Amos (C)
Jenny Barnes (LCo)
Marjory Bisset (G)
Owen Cleary (C)

C= Conservative

Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor

Jill Desayrah (L)
Shafaz Ditta (C)
Karen Lewing (G)
Andrew Roberts (C)

G = Green
L = Labour
LCo = Labour and Co-operative
LD = Liberal Democrat

AGENDA
Part 1
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC)
1.

Appointment of Substitutes
To receive details of any Member nominated to attend the meeting in place of a
Member of the Committee.

2.

Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest.

3.

Minutes of Previous Planning Committee
Page(s): 1 - 6
of the meeting held on 26th May 2022 to be approved and signed.

4.

Minutes of Previous Conservation Advisory Panel
Page(s): 7 - 14
That the minutes of the Conservation Advisory Panel be received.

5.

Site Visits
Such inspections of current application sites as may have been recommended by
Officers and as may be approved by the Committee.
Members of the Committee should inform the Interim Head of Development
Management of any requests for site visits by 5.00 p.m. on the Tuesday
immediately prior to the meeting (21st June 2022) and reasons for the request.
Site visits will be conducted in accordance with the procedure attached which
forms part of the Council’s Good Practice Protocol for Members and Officers dealing
with Planning Matters.

3

6.

Public Participation
Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be allowed, each speaker being allocated a
maximum of five minutes, for members of the public to present a petition, ask a
question or comment on any matter on the Agenda or within the remit of the
Committee in accordance with Committee Procedure Rule 10.

7.

Public Representation
Members of the public will be allowed to address the Committee in respect of
applications to be considered by the Committee in accordance with Committee
Procedure Rule 11. Members of the public will address the Committee during the
Committee’s consideration of the respective item.

8.

Planning Application Local Validation Document
Page(s): 15 - 74
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer:
Sally Watts, Senior Planning Officer
Tel: 01905 722172
That the Committee:

9.

(i)

approve the draft Local Validation Document for consultation purposes
and to inform decisions regarding the validation of planning applications
during the consultation period and until such time as the Local Validation
Document is adopted by the City Council;

(ii)

authorise the Corporate Director - Planning and Governance in
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning Committee to
make any necessary amendments to the Local Validation Document
following the public consultation period of six weeks and to adopt the
Local Validation Document for development management purposes; and

(iii)

authorise the Corporate Director - Planning and Governance in
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning Committee to
undertake future reviews and redraft and re-format of the Local
Validation Document in the event of amendments being necessary as a
result of new Government guidance, changes in legislation, change in
planning policies at local or national level or a change in local
circumstances.

Application 21/00500/FUL - Mister Constructon Ltd., - South Street
Page(s): 75 - 90
Ward(s): Cathedral
Contact Officer:
Thomas Gabriel, Interim Senior Planning Officer
Tel: 01905 722521
The Corporate Director - Planning and Governance recommends that the Planning
Committee refuses planning permission for the reasons set out at Section 9 of the
report.

4

10.

Application 22/00276/HP - 109 Canada Way
Page(s): 91 - 100
Ward(s): Bedwardine
Contact Officer:
Ruth Lambert, Planning Officer
Tel: 01905 722175
The Corporate Director - Planning and Governance recommends that the Planning
Committee grants planning permission subject to conditions as set out in Section 9
of the report.

11.

Any Other Business
Which in the opinion of the Chair is of sufficient urgency as to warrant
consideration.

5

PLANNING COMMITTEE SITE VISITS
The following is an extract from the Good Practice Protocol relating to Planning Matters.
The procedure for site visits will be as follows: 

Members of the Planning Committee together with relevant officer’s travel to the
site by minibus.



On arrival at the site, the designated planning officer explains the main planning
issues to the Committee.



Inspections will be undertaken in a formal and professional manner. The
Committee should stay together as a group.



There will be no inter-action between Members and applicants or objectors at the
site visit beyond the common courtesies to be expected when visiting someone
else’s property.



Members may ask questions of the officers and draw attention to issues relevant
to the site visit.



Members will not debate the merits of the proposal on the site visit or on the way
to or from the site visit.



Members who have declared a prejudicial interest or who, for any other reasons,
do not intend to participate in the planning decision, will not participate in the site
visit.



The Chair will close the site visit and all Members will leave the site at the
same time.



The Chair may alter or terminate any visit at his/her discretion.

6

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
26th May 2022
Present:

Councillor Chris Mitchell in the Chair
Councillors Agar (Vice-Chair), Barnes,
Bisset, Desayrah, Ditta, Lawrance (in place
of Councilor Allcott), Lewing and Roberts

Apologies:

1

Councillors Amos and Cleary

Declarations of Interest
None.

2

Minutes of Previous Planning Committee
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 28th April 2022 be
approved as a correct record and signed by the Vice Chair.

3

Site Visits
There were no site visits.

4

Public Participation
None.

5

Public Representation
None.

6

Application 22/00037/RM - University Development, Bromyard Road
Introduction
The Committee considered a reserved matters application for residential
development of up to 120 dwellings seeking approval for landscaping, layout,
scale and appearance at University Park Development, Bromyard Road.
Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee
The application had been referred to Planning Committee as it is a departure from
the adopted Local Plan.
Report/Background/Late papers
The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area,
the site itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and
consultations where applicable.

Page 2
26th May 2022

2

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the late paper which related to
amendments required to the S106 Agreement in respect of the Education
Contributions, resulting in a revised recommendation for the officer’s report
identified in paragraph 7 of the late paper.
The Interim Head of Development Management also drew the Committee’s
attention to paragraphs 3 and 4 of the late paper and confirmed that the definition
of SEND is Special Educational Needs and Disabilities. He also confirmed that the
proposals are for 100% affordable housing and include a mix of affordable
housing tenures, although the S106 Agreement only binds the applicant to
provide 30%.
Committee Members were also provided with a sheet on FAQ’s related to outline
planning applications and reserved matters submissions for information.
Officer Presentation
The information was presented as set out by the Corporate Director – Planning
and Governance, in conjunction with a powerpoint presentation for the item.
The Interim Head of Development Management referred Committee Members to
the outline planning permission indicative masterplan at figure 2 in the report and
to the proposed site plan at figure 3. The application was supported by a
proposed landscaping scheme incorporating green infrastructure across a large
portion of the site.
Public Representations
There had been no one registered to speak on the application.
Key Points of Debate


The Interim Head of Development Management responded to points of
clarification on the landscaping, biodiversity and the management of open
spaces on the site. He made reference to the biodiversity net gain and the
fact that there is new legislation being progressed. There was also to be a
management plan submitted which would identify how the open spaces
would be managed and safeguarded. It was pointed out that any change to
biodiversity or open space a planning application would need to be
submitted.



In response to questions from Committee Members on the positioning of
dropped kerbs, non-provision of south access road footpath and the
provision of street lighting, the County Council Highway Authority
representative stated that although the intention was for the roads to be
built to an adoptable standard the roads would not be subject to a Section
38 agreement as they do not connect to an adopted highway. Oak View is
not currently adopted and the internal roads would remain private until
such time as the situation has changed. She further explained that the
developers cannot be forced to offer the road for adoption.

Page 3
26th May 2022

3



Noting the concerns of Members the Chair asked that the County Council
Highway Authority representative liaise with the developers over the
concerns raised, which was agreed but she could not give assurances at
this time.



It was noted that solar panels were not referred to in the report but the
Interim Head of Development Management did confirm that there were
solar panels on the site as part of the proposals although not shown on the
elevation floor plans.



As requested the location of the play area on the site was shown on the
powerpoint presentation and the Interim Head of Development
Management identified the type of play equipment when asked. In
referring to the late paper at paragraph 4 it was questioned why the
secondary SEND was shown as nil, it was confirmed that the County Council
Education assesses this and provides the figures and not the developer.



Noting that parking is included in the design, Members asked whether
electric vehicle points were to be provided. The County Council Highway
Authority representative confirmed that as part of the outline permission all
dwellings would have them.



As a point of clarification it was confirmed that seating was provided around
the play area but not the communal areas. It was asked whether this could
be increased, the Interim Head of Development Management agreed to ask
for details of further seating to come forward.



Although welcoming the affordable housing, concerns were raised that the
householders would be burdened with maintenance costs if the roads are
not adopted. The Legal Team Manager responded by saying that the
developer is a registered provider and that the rent of affordable housing is
capped at a rate set by Homes England and the developer would not be
able increase the rent on some of the types of tenures, although shared
ownership properties may have to contribute.

A proposal to approve the application had been made and this was seconded.
There being no further points made the Chair requested the voting of each
Member of the Committee who were eligible to vote. Following the recording of
the votes the proposal was agreed as follows:
For – 9
Against – 0
Abstentions - 0
RESOLVED: That the Committee
1.

approve the reserved matters application subject to the conditions
set out in section 9 of the report; and

2.

delegate authority to the Corporate Director – Planning and
Governance to vary the Section 106 Agreement dated 11th March
2021 to reflect the revised calculation formula for the Education
Contribution as detailed in the late paper.

Page 4
26th May 2022
7

4

Application 21/00506/REM - Former DEFRA Site, Whittington Road
Introduction
The Committee considered an application for the variation to drawings listed as
approved under Condition 2 of full planning approval reference P18G0322 for the
retention of the sales centre storage/wc facilities pod at the rear of the garages on
plots 1 and 2 for use as a domestic out building at the former DEFRA site,
Whittington Road.
Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee
The application had been referred to Planning Committee in accordance with the
adopted Scheme of Delegation.
Report/Background/Late papers
The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area,
the site itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and
consultations where applicable.
There were no late papers circulated.
Officer Presentation
The information was presented as set out by the Corporate Director – Planning
and Governance, in conjunction with a powerpoint presentation for the item.
Public Representations
There had been no one registered to speak on the application.
Key Points of Debate


Committee Members agreed that the proposed use made sense and saw no
reason to object.

A proposal to approve the application had been made and this was seconded.
There being no further points made the Chair requested the voting of each
Member of the Committee who were eligible to vote. Following the recording of
the votes the proposal was agreed as follows:
For – 9
Against – 0
Abstentions - 0
RESOLVED: That the Committee grant planning permission, subject to the
conditions set out in section 9 of the report.
8

Any Other Business
None.

Page 5
26th May 2022

5

Duration of the meeting: 1.30p.m. to 2.23p.m.

Chairman at the meeting on
23rd June 2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

Page 8

Page 9

Page 10

Page 11

Page 12

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 15

Agenda Item 8

Report to: Planning Committee, 23rd June 2022
Report of: Corporate Director - Planning and Governance

Subject:

PLANNING APPLICATION LOCAL VALIDATION DOCUMENT

1.

Recommendation

1.1

That the Committee:

(i)

approve the draft Local Validation Document for consultation
purposes and to inform decisions regarding the validation of
planning applications during the consultation period and until
such time as the Local Validation Document is adopted by the
City Council;

(ii)

authorise the Corporate Director - Planning and Governance in
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning
Committee to make any necessary amendments to the Local
Validation Document following the public consultation period of
six weeks and to adopt the Local Validation Document for
development management purposes; and

(iii)

authorise the Corporate Director - Planning and Governance in
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning
Committee to undertake future reviews and redraft and reformat of the Local Validation Document in the event of
amendments being necessary as a result of new Government
guidance, changes in legislation, change in planning policies at
local or national level or a change in local circumstances.

2.

Background

2.1

Until now the City Council has sought to rely on the National Validation
requirements when receiving planning and related applications. The City
Council has produced a draft Local Validation document (Appendix 1) in
accordance with Planning Practice Guidance and paragraph 44 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

2.2

Paragraph 44 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should
“publish a list of their information requirements for applications for
planning permission.
These requirements should be kept to the minimum needed to make
decisions and should be reviewed at least every two years.”

Page 16

2.3

2.4

Paragraph 44 states that local planning authorities should only request
supporting information that is relevant, necessary, and material to the
application in question. Planning Practice Guidance states that, in addition
to being specified on an up-to-date local list published on the local
planning authority’s website, information requested with a particular
planning application must be:
- Reasonable having regard to the nature and scale of the proposed
development; and
- About a matter which it is reasonable to think will be a material
consideration in the determination of the application
The Local Validation Document has been written to be concise in terms of
what policy it refers to, when the information is required and what the
relevant information needs to include. This is to provide legibility and
maximum transparency of when and what is required to support the
application.

2.5

The application fee and some of the information we require when an
application is submitted are national requirements set by Government.
These are included in part one of the Local Validation Document for clarity.

2.6

This document provides users of the City Council’s Development
Management Service with an overview of all supporting assessments and
plans required at the time of submitting a planning application (made
under the Town and Country Planning Acts) to make it valid. If an
application on receipt has the correct level of supporting information, then
it is ‘’valid’’ and it can progress towards a decision.

3.

Why is a new Local Validation Document necessary?

3.1

National planning policy recommends that local validation documents are
produced and reviewed every two years to ensure that it is reasonable and
up-to-date. It is beneficial to the local planning authority and to
applicants, to have local requirements set out clearly so that applicant’s
and/or their planning consultants know what they are expected to provide
and why and this can help to ensure that applications are valid upon
receipt rather than the local planning authority having to request
additional information after an application has been submitted which can
lead to delay and uncertainty. If all the necessary information is received
at the initial validation stage this helps the local planning authority to work
efficiently and assists in the timely determination of planning applications.

3.2

As set out in part iii) of the recommendation, Planning Committee is
requested to allow for minor updates to be made to the Local Validation
Document under delegated arrangements rather than these having to
reported to Planning Committee on each occasion. This will help ensure
that the document is kept up to date and changes can be made quickly
and efficiently when required.

3.3

The value of the Local Validation Document is to provide a clear and
logical guide for applicants and agents as well as officers of the City
Council on what is required for different types of planning applications and

Page 17

other planning related applications- such as those relating to trees and
certificates of lawful development.
3.4

There are not any significant issues arising from the introduction of the
document. It would not require any significant change in processes in
terms of the journey of the application through the stages through to
determination but would provide a more consistent approach to decision
making in regard to validating the application which would be of benefit
for customers of the service.

4.

The proposed public consultation

4.1

The aim of the consultation is to ensure all key stakeholders have an
opportunity to consider and review the scope and nature of the
information proposed to be required and provide them with an opportunity
to comment on the proposals

4.2

A media release will be prepared and a dedicated web-page created to
encourage electronic responses to the consultation. The new web-page will
set out the purpose of the document and include a feedback form for
stakeholders to respond to the consultation.

4.3

The consultation period will be six weeks.

4.4

The following stakeholders will also be advised of the consultation and be
encouraged to submit comments:Members on Planning Committee
Statutory and Non-Statutory Consultees
Parish Councils
Regular Planning Agents/ Planning Consultants





5.

Equality Implications

5.1

The introduction of a Local Validation Document does not directly affect
the ability to submit a planning or related application and it is not
considered that this document would be a barrier to using the service but
provides improved guidance for applicants and agents / planning
consultants regarding the validation process.

5.2

The adoption of the document would provide a clear and equitable way of
assessing if all of the relevant information has been submitted to the
authority and reduces the need for case by case assessment but acts as a
checklist for the Planning Team in ensuring all necessary information is
provided.

5.3

The document has been formatted to enable a read aloud capacity and
uses a clear and legible layout as far as practicable to enable better access
to the information.
Conclusion

6.

Page 18

6.1

The City Council has identified a need to formalise its planning application
information requirements beyond the national requirements, to improve
the service it provides to its customers and stakeholders in the planning
application process.

6.2

Whilst there are not any significant issues arising from the introduction of
the Local Validation Document it provides an opportunity to improve
customer service and review internal processes in respect of validation.

6.3

The Local Validation Document has been produced for consultation.
Following the consultation period, it is proposed that any necessary
changes are agreed by the Corporate Director for Planning & Governance
in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of Planning Committee and
the Local Validation Document is then adopted for Development
Management purposes.

Ward(s)
Contact Officer:
Background Papers:

All
Sally Watts, Project Officer, Development
Management Tel: 01905 722172
Email: sally.watts@worcester.gov.uk
Appendix 1: Planning Applications Local
Validation Document (Local List) (Draft for
consultation)

Page 19

Worcester City Council
Local Validation Document
June 2022
Worcester City Council has produced this Local Validation Document in
accordance with Planning Practice Guidance and paragraph 44 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Paragraph 44 of the NPPF states that local
planning authorities should publish a list of their information requirements for
applications, which should be kept to the minimum needed to make decisions and
should be reviewed at least every two years.
Paragraph 44 states that local planning authorities should only request supporting
information that is relevant, necessary, and material to the application in
question. Planning Practice Guidance states that, in addition to being specified on
an up-to-date local list published on the local planning authority’s website,
information requested with a particular planning application must be:
- Reasonable having regard to the nature and scale of the proposed
development; and
- About a matter which it is reasonable to think it will be a material consideration
in the determination of the application
The application fee and some of the information we require when an application is
submitted are national requirements set by Government. In addition, the
government has empowered us to require applicants to provide additional
information in the interests of good and efficient decision making and having
regard to local circumstances.
This document provides users of the City Council’s Development Management
Service with an overview of all supporting assessments and plans required at the
time of submitting a planning application (made under the Town and Country
Planning Acts) to make it valid. If an application on receipt has the correct level
of supporting information, then it is ‘’valid’’ and it can progress towards a
decision.

Page 20

Contents
Introduction ......................................................................................................... 9
Before submitting your application .......................................................................... 9
Once you have submitted your application ............................................................. 10
Part One: National Validation Requirements............................................................ 10
Standards for online submissions .......................................................................... 10
Information Required – National Planning Application Requirements .......................... 12
i.

Completed form ......................................................................................... 12

Where Ownership Certificates B, C or D have been completed ................................ 12
The correct fee: A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England
(planningportal.co.uk) ....................................................................................... 12
Location Plan at a scale of 1:1250 or 1:2500 ....................................................... 12
ii.
iii.

Design and Access Statement: ..................................................................... 12
Fire Statement ....................................................................................... 12

Existing and Proposed Block Plan at a scale of 1:200 or 1:500 ............................... 13
Any Other Plans, Drawings and Information Necessary to Describe the Development
Which Is the Subject of The Application ............................................................... 13
a)

Existing and Proposed Elevations at a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 ........................ 13

b)

Existing and Proposed Floor plans at a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 ....................... 13

c)

Roof Plans at a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 ....................................................... 13

d)

Site Survey and Finished Floor Level Plans .............................................. 14

Information regarding plans............................................................................... 14
Part Two. Additional information required- Local Application Requirements ................. 15
Affordable Housing Statement .............................................................................. 15
Agricultural Land Assessment ............................................................................... 15
Air Quality Assessment ........................................................................................ 16
Archaeological Desk-based Assessment and Field Evaluation Report .......................... 16
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) – Assumption of Liability Form ......................... 17
Daylighting/Sunlight Assessment........................................................................... 18
Economic Statement ............................................................................................ 18
Employment Site Assessment ............................................................................... 19
Energy Statement ............................................................................................... 19
Environmental Impact Assessment ........................................................................ 20
Flood Risk Assessment ......................................................................................... 21
Foul Sewage Assessment ..................................................................................... 22
Glint and Glare Assessment .................................................................................. 23
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) and Health Impact Assessment Screening ............... 23
Heritage Statement - Assessment of impact of proposed development on significance
of heritage assets ................................................................................................ 24
Land Contamination Assessment ........................................................................... 25
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment .............................................................. 25

Page 21

Lighting Assessment ............................................................................................ 26
Nature Conservation/Ecological Information (Ecological Survey and Report) ............... 27
Noise Impact Assessment ..................................................................................... 28
Odour Assessment .............................................................................................. 29
Open Space/Recreational Facilities Assessment ....................................................... 30
Planning Obligations – Draft Head(s) of Terms and CIL Eligibility Statement ............... 31
Planning Statement ............................................................................................. 31
Refuse Storage and Collection Details .................................................................... 32
Retail and Centres Impact Assessment ................................................................... 33
Statement of Community Involvement ................................................................... 33
Streetscene Elevations ......................................................................................... 34
Structural Survey ................................................................................................ 34
Telecommunications Development – supplementary information ............................... 35
Transport Assessment/Transport Statement ........................................................... 35
Travel Plan ......................................................................................................... 37
Tree Survey/ Arboricultural Statement ................................................................... 38
Ventilation/Extraction Statement ........................................................................... 39
Viability Assessment ............................................................................................ 39
Water Management Statement .............................................................................. 40
Additional Recommended Submissions ................................................................... 41
Part Four: Further guidance regarding ecology and nature conservation requirements of
the Local Planning Authority ................................................................................. 43
Exceptions for When a full Species Survey and Assessment may not be required: ....... 45
Part Five – Appendices ......................................................................................... 46
Appendix 1 – Guidance on Ecology Information Requirements for Planning Application 46
What information should be included in an Ecology Statement ............................... 46
Overarching Principles ....................................................................................... 47
Deciding when a Professional Ecology Survey and Assessment needed to inform an
Ecology Statement ........................................................................................... 47
Householder applications and some building conversions .................................... 47
Prior Notification applications .......................................................................... 48
Applications requiring Environmental Impact Assessment – Environmental Statement
................................................................................................................... 48
Other applications, including outline applications ............................................... 48
Preliminary Ecological Appraisals ..................................................................... 48
Extended Phase 1 Habitat Surveys and UK Habitat Classification Surveys ............. 49
Surveys for specific species ............................................................................. 49
Using a Biodiversity Metric .............................................................................. 50
Off-site Compensation and off-site Net Gain ...................................................... 50
Appendix 2 – Relevant Nature Conservation Legislation ........................................... 50
Appendix 3 – Where to find an ecological consultant ................................................ 50

Page 22

Appendix 4 - Useful Contacts & Further Information ................................................ 50
Appendix 5- Refuse details for Residential Development ........................................... 51
Specifications for External Storage Areas for Housing Developments ....................... 52
Waste Container Collection from Housing Developments ....................................... 52
Flats and Apartment Developments .................................................................... 53
Containers Required for External Storage of Waste for Flats and Apartments ........ 53
Waste Storage Areas for Flats and Apartments .................................................. 53
Waste Collection for Flats and Apartments ........................................................ 54

List of figures.
Figure 1.
Figure
Figure
Figure
Figure
Figure
Figure

2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Local Requirement for Protected Species: Criteria and Indicative
Thresholds
Containers Required for External Storage of Waste for Housing
Details of refuse vehicles
The sizes of bins currently supplied
Communal bin calculations
House of Multiple Occupancy Bin Calculations
List of documents required by application type

39-40
47
48
49
50-51
52
53-54

Page 23

Introduction
The Checklist included within this document is designed to help ensure that your
application is valid when we receive it from you. It acts as a checklist to enable
clarity on what we, as the local planning authority require. The checklist
highlights the relevant local policies.
The checklist is set out into two main parts:
Part One – sets out the national list of requirements which are mandatory for all
planning applications.
Part Two – sets out Worcester City Council’s local list
Above all the checklist aims to:





assist in ensuring that your application is valid when submitted;
ensure that all applications can be dealt with effectively and efficiently;
respond positively to best practice advice issued by government; and,
ensure that the City Council complies with legislation in relation to planning
applications.

It is recommended that the content of technical documents supporting your
application be informed by pre-application discussions with us and by reference
to our planning policies and guidance, particularly Supplementary Planning
Documents.
The content and detail of the supporting information we require should be
proportionate to the scale of the development. If you are in any doubt about this,
please do talk to us further before preparing and submitting your application or
contact the team via email at planning@worcester.gov.uk. If the information
required, as set-out in our Local Validation Document, is not submitted with your
application then the application will not be valid, and it will not start to be
progressed towards a decision.

Before submitting your application
Please read this document carefully before completing your application form
and submitting your application. If you intend to apply for large-scale
development or for a complex proposal, or if you are in any doubt about a
specific issue, you should agree these matters with us during pre-application
discussions. Information on the pre-application advice service provided by the
Council is viewable at Planning Advice - Worcester City Council
Please remember also that planning permission, listed building and
advertisement consents may not be the only permissions or consents you need
from Worcester City Council. Other consents include building regulations,
licensing, and food safety. More information on these and other consents and
services of the Council are available on our website www.worcester.gov.uk

Page 24

Once you have submitted your application
Upon receipt of your application, we will crosscheck the information submitted
against national planning application requirements, together with the City
Council’s local requirements, as set out in this document. If all the required
information is included, your application will be classed as ‘’valid’’ and it will then
progress towards a decision.
If your application is invalid (because you have submitted insufficient information
or an incorrect application fee), we will write to you to tell you what you need to
do to make it valid and would request information is submitted to
planning@worcester.gov.uk.
You must then submit the required information in a timely manner to ensure that
your application can progress to a decision. If, within 28 days, you do not provide
us with the information we require, we will not be able to deal with your
application and it will be treated as Withdrawn. Thereafter, if you wish to
progress with your plans you will need to submit your application to us again as
we do not keep any documents relating to Withdrawn applications.
Our Local Validation Document has been the subject of a 6 week public and
stakeholder consultation period. Following the consultation we had regard to
responses before adopting the document

Part One: National Validation Requirements
Applicants are encouraged to supply documentation which has been produced
electronically in that format. This applies whether the application is made on-line
or whether a paper application is made. This facilitates the transfer of information
to consultees and for the public to view planning proposals on-line with the
greatest efficiency. It would be appreciated if the scale of the plans and paper
size is no larger than is required to illustrate the proposals.

Standards for online submissions
The national standards for on-line submission of electronic planning documents
are as follows:








Maximum single file size is 10 Mbytes;
Maximum 25 Mbytes file size (the sum of all document file sizes). Where
these maxima are exceeded the information should be submitted off-line
using CDROM/DVD;
Portable Document Format (PDF) is the recommended file format to
ensure that they are accessible to consultees;
All drawings shall specify the printing page size for which the scale
applies;
All drawings shall be correctly orientated for on-screen display
All drawings shall include a scale bar and key dimensions;
All documents and drawings shall be given a meaningful title and dated
with drawings given a unique plan reference. For example: Block

Page 25





Plan drawing v1A.pdf or Design and access statement 28102013.pdf.
Scanned documents must be a minimum of 200 dots per inch (dpi)
resolution for black and white and 100 dpi for colour;
All photographs in PDF file format and no larger than 15 cm x 10 cm.

In addition:
 Updated or revised versions of plans or documents should be clearly
named to show a change so that the new documents can be easily
identified when uploaded. For example, Block Plan drawing v1B.pdf or
Design and Access Statement 30102013.pdf.
 Plans and drawings must not contain the phrase ‘Do not scale’.

Page 26

Information Required – National Planning Application
Requirements
i.

Completed form
 Including a signed ownership and agricultural holdings certificate
(either A, B, C or D) and declaration.

Where Ownership Certificates B, C or D have been completed
Evidence of notice as required by Article 13 of the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015
The correct fee: A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England
(planningportal.co.uk)
Location Plan at a scale of 1:1250 or 1:2500
 Up-to-date, ordnance survey based showing the direction of North and
two road names, if possible.
 Identifies the land to which the application relates, with a red outline
around the application site and all land necessary to carry out the
proposed development (e.g., land required for access to the site from a
public highway).
 Blue outline around other land owned by the applicant.
 The plan must cover a large enough area to enable the location to be
easily found.
 Land registry documents will not be accepted unless accompanied with
proof of purchase.
Where an Ordnance Survey based plan is being submitted for planning
purposes the copyright and licence number must be shown
ii.
Design and Access Statement:
Required for:
Applications for major development, as defined in article 2 of the Town and
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure (England) Order 2015;
 Applications for development in a conservation area where the
proposed development consists of:
o one or more dwellings; or
o a building or buildings with a floor space of 100 square metres
or more.
 Applications for listed building consent.
 Applications to amend the conditions attached to a planning
permission do not need to be accompanied by a Design and Access
Statement.
 Please note: Applications for a material change of use or engineering
operations do not require a design and access statement.
iii.
Fire Statement
A fire statement is necessary when the proposed development with contain two
or more dwellings or educational accommodation and meet the height condition
of 18m or more in height, or 7 or more storeys.

Page 27

Fire statements will support the consideration of information on fire safety
matters as they relate to land use planning matters (e.g., site layout, water
supplies for firefighting purposes and access for fire appliances). It is the
intention that the information provided within a fire statement is focussed and
concise, specific, and relevant to the development, and proportionate to the
scale, type, and complexity of the proposal. A fire statement will evidence that
thinking on fire safety matters, as they relate to planning, has been incorporated
into the planning application.
Existing and Proposed Block Plan at a scale of 1:200 or 1:500
 The plans must show the existing structures, boundary treatments, trees
etc. on the site.
 The proposed plan must also show the proposed development in relation
to the site boundaries and other existing buildings on the site, as well as
any adjacent buildings, roads, or footpaths.
 Any trees or hedges affected by the development should be shown.
 Any new boundary walls or fencing proposed as part of the development.
 Parking areas, existing or proposed or any other hard surfacing.
Any Other Plans, Drawings and Information Necessary to Describe the
Development Which Is the Subject of The Application
In addition to the location plan and site plan, other plans should be submitted
(dependent on the type of application and development proposed) to explain the
proposal in detail. The drawings submitted should show details of the existing
building(s) as well as those for the proposed development. Where existing
buildings and or walls are to be demolished these should also be clearly shown.
a) Existing and Proposed Elevations at a scale of 1:50 or 1:100
Required for any extensions, external alterations, or new buildings.
All existing and proposed elevations affected by the proposal must be shown and
labelled (e.g., North Elevation).
Elevations should indicate the proposed building materials and the style,
materials and finish of windows and doors. Blank elevations must also be
included; if only to show that this is in fact the case
If the property is semi-detached or terraced, this must be shown on the
drawings.
b) Existing and Proposed Floor plans at a scale of 1:50 or 1:100
Required for any extensions or new buildings.
All existing and proposed uses of rooms and any additional floor space should be
shown.
Where buildings or walls are to be demolished these should be clearly shown.
New buildings should be shown in relation to adjacent buildings.
c) Roof Plans at a scale of 1:50 or 1:100
Showing the shape of the roof and any alterations e.g., materials, roof

Page 28

lights, flues etc.
It may be possible to combine the roof plan with the proposed block plan, where
the roof plan is simple
d ) Site Survey and Finished Floor Level Plans
Where the development involves significant remodelling of land profile or a
change in site levels is proposed. Alternatively, any application which could
potentially impact, through varying levels, on residential amenity. drawings at a
1:50, 1:100 or 1:200 scale should be submitted showing a cross section through
the proposed building or site. Illustrative drawings should be submitted to show
both existing and finished levels. The drawings may take the form of contours,
spot levels or cross or long sections as appropriate.
Information regarding plans
 All other plans must be drawn to an appropriate metric scale i.e., 1:50,
1:100, 1:200 or 1:500,
 Plans marked “do not scale” or with similar disclaimers will not be
accepted.
 Plans should be A4 or A3 size wherever possible
 Plans must show the direction of North.
 Scale bars must be provided on all plans
 All information must be clear enough so that the quality of detail is not
compromised when scanned and viewed electronically e.g., faint lines are
unacceptable.
 It would be helpful if coloured three-dimensional imagery is provided for at
least the main street elevation for major applications to help schemes to
be shown in their context.
PLEASE NOTE: Due to General Data Protection Regulations please do not
include personal details (Names) on submitted drawings.
We are unable to accept plans which are taken from the Council's Mapping web
pages i.e., anything with the Council watermark or the licence number across
the bottom.

Page 29

Part Two. Additional information required- Local
Application Requirements
This could include the following documents

Affordable Housing Statement
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP15
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
Where a development plan policy (having regard to national planning policy
guidance) requires the provision of affordable housing or a contribution in
lieu of affordable housing on a particular site.
What is required
The Council will require information concerning both the affordable housing and
any open market housing. Such information shall include details of the number
of residential units, the mix of units and the proposed tenure. If different levels
or types of affordability or tenure are proposed for different units, this should be
clearly and fully explained. Where a financial contribution in lieu of on-site
affordable housing is proposed, the Affordable Housing Statement should clearly
state this as well as the reasons why this is considered acceptable.

Agricultural Land Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP13
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
With all planning applications proposing



large scale solar farms on greenfield land or
any development that results in the loss of over 5 hectares of land
currently in agricultural use or 2 hectares BMV

What is required
The Assessment shall identify parts of the application site in agricultural use and
the classification of all agricultural land having regard to the
Agricultural Land Classification system, described in the following Natural
England note: Agricultural land: assess proposals for development - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
The Assessment shall also provide commentary on the economic and other
consequences of the development and subsequent loss/impact on agricultural
land.

Page 30

Air Quality Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP31
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
Application proposals that impact upon air quality or are potential pollutants
should be supported by an air quality assessment. Such statements will be
required for: 

development proposals that would significantly affect traffic in the
immediate vicinity of the site or further afield e.g., residential
development of 100 dwellings or more,
retail/leisure/commercial/industrial development that incorporates more
than 100 parking spaces; or
 development that results in significant additional large vehicle
movements including HGV construction vehicles e.g., major road or
infrastructure change or large vehicle depot such as bus station, lorry
park or businesses that receive a large number of HGV’s. In this regard
significant is where a proposal results in an increase of HGV movements
of 25 annual average daily traffic were impacting on an Air Quality
Management Area or increase of 100 movements elsewhere; or
 proposals that introduce new point sources of air pollution (e.g.,
furnaces, extraction systems or biomass boiler schemes); or
 new residential and other development that includes outdoor amenity
space that would expose people to existing sources of air pollutants (such
as in Air Quality Management Areas);
 any new development that may impact an existing Air Quality
Management Area or other area of poor air quality.
 All as per government advice included on: Air quality - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
What is required
Advice on the contents of air quality assessments is included on the following
websites: Air quality - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
EPUK and IAQM Land-Use Planning and Development Control: Planning for Air
Quality (May 2015)
http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/air-quality-planning-guidance.pdf

Archaeological Desk-based Assessment and Field Evaluation
Report
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policies SWDP6 & SWDP24
National Planning Policy Framework

Page 31

When required
A Desk-based Assessment will be required where an initial assessment indicates
the proposed development affects an archaeologically sensitive area (including a
Scheduled Ancient Monument or non-designated sites of archaeological interest).
Queries on whether a particular site is archaeologically sensitive can be raised
with the Conservation Team at Worcester City Council (01905 722233) or
preferably via our team email planning@worcester.gov.uk.
It is possible to search the Worcestershire County Council Archaeology Service
records at:
http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/info/20189/search_our_records/249/accessing
_archaeological_and_historic_environment_information).
A Field Evaluation Report will be required where the Desk-based Assessment
demonstrates information that suggests further evaluation of the site is
required prior to the determination of the application before being submitted.
Evaluation of the report should be carried out by an appropriate and qualified
professional.
What is required
Information and advice on the content of reports is available either through
Worcestershire County Council Archaeological Service or the following Chartered
Institute for Archaeologists website: http://www.archaeologists.net/codes/ifa

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) – Assumption of Liability
Form
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016
CIL Charging Schedule
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
For all applications that are CIL liable – see CIL Charging
Community Infrastructure Levy - Worcester City Council

Schedule

at

What is required
To complete the CIL Assumption of Liability form that will inform what CIL is
required for a development proposal.
Download the forms - Community Infrastructure Levy - Planning Portal
Further information regarding CIL, and the relevant process and forms can be
found on the Planning Portal website.
CIL is charged in £ per square metre. The floor area on which CIL is payable is
calculated by measuring the gross internal area (or GIA) of a new development.
All new build areas, including garages, are included. The amount of CIL liable is
also dependent on where the development is located within the District, the type

Page 32

of use proposed, the amount of floorspace that is being created and the amount
that is being lost i.e., through demolition.

Daylighting/Sunlight Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP21
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
With planning applications where there is a potential adverse impact upon the
current levels of sunlight/daylighting enjoyed by adjoining properties and
building(s). For example, for development proposals of new buildings with three
or more storeys on sites adjoining or near existing residential properties.
What is required
Further guidance is provided in the Building Research Establishment’s (BRE)
document “Site layout – planning for daylight and sunlight” (available here: http://www.brebookshop.com/details.jsp?id=326792

Economic Statement
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policies SWDP8, SWDP9 and
SWDP12
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
In support of planning applications for new development, or the expansion of
existing businesses, that, w i l l generate employment opportunities plus
applications of a commercial nature (Floor area of 1000m2 +)
What is required
Such statements should set out any regeneration benefits from the proposed
development, including:
 Reference to any regeneration strategies or objectives that might lie
behind or be supported by the proposal;
 The relative floorspace totals for each proposed use (where known);
 For proposal which are applying for a Change of Use from employment
uses to alternative uses
 Why the site is no longer suitable for employment uses
 How the proposed use offers greater benefits (social, environmental and
economic) then existing employment uses
 How the property or site has been advertised including:
 Property agent details
 What price it was marketed at
 How long it was marketed for
 Number/type of enquiries received
 Number of viewings

Page 33







Number, type/proposed uses and value of offers
Reasons for refusal of an offer
Details of any new jobs that might be created or supported along with jobs
that will be retained as part of the proposal;
Information regarding employment opportunities during the construction
phase and how these opportunities will be promoted
Information regarding skills and training opportunities during the
construction phase and how these opportunities will be promoted

NB: - the standard application forms include questions on employment
generation. However, an economic statement allows further details on the jobs a
proposal would create.

Employment Site Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan – Policies SWDP8
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
An assessment will be required with: (a)

(b)

all planning applications proposing change of use/re-development of
existing B2 and/or B8 use class where there is 1,000 sq. metres net
floorspace or greater in urban areas to a non-employment generating
use (The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 and
should refer to The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes)
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 in terms of the assessment;
and
all planning applications proposing change of use/re-development of
existing B2 and/or B8 use class premises, tourism, leisure and/or
recreation- related purposes in rural areas to non-employment
generating uses.

What is required
For applications falling within (a) and (b) set out above, the assessment will need
to provide details of comprehensive marketing of the premises/land for at least
12 months and appropriate to the prevailing market conditions. Annex F of the
South Worcestershire Development Plan provides more advice on the contents of
any marketing information. For applications falling with category (a) there is the
additional requirement to provide a financial appraisal that demonstrates
redevelopment for any employment generating use is unviable and is unlikely to
achieve viability within five years.

Energy Statement
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP27
National Planning Policy Framework

Page 34

When required
With planning applications for new development over 100 sq. metres gross, or
one or more dwellings.
What is required
An Energy Statement should explain how a proposed development will meet the
requirements of SWDP Policy 27 and incorporate renewable and low carbon
energy facilities to generate at least 10% of predicted energy requirements.
For full planning applications, or applications seeking reserved matters approval,
the Energy Statement should include evidence to demonstrate the predicted
regulated energy use of the proposed development and the energy generation
achieved through the proposed renewable/low carbon measures.
For outline planning applications, the Energy Statement need not provide full
details, but should set out an explanation in broad terms how the proposed
development will meet the requirements of policy SWDP27.
For developments of 100 or more dwellings or non-residential developments of
more than 10,000 sq. metres, the energy statement should include evidence to
show consideration of a decentralised energy and heating network. The Energy
Statement should explain why it is not practical or viable if no such facility is
proposed.
If the proposal fails to incorporate renewable/low carbon energy facilities to
meet the 10% requirement, the Energy Statement should explain why this is,
and evidence to support this reasoning (e.g., a Viability Assessment)

Environmental Impact Assessment
Policy Drivers
National Planning Policy Framework
Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 2017
When required
For any proposal that is a ‘Schedule 1’ or some proposals that are ‘Schedule 2’
development as defined in the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017.
All applications over 0.5ha in size will be screened by the Local Planning Authority
to determine whether an Environmental Statement is required. This screening
can be requested prior to an application being submitted. Developments that are
likely to have a significant effect on the environment by virtue of their nature,
size and location and are listed under Schedule 1 of the EIA Regulations. Those
included in Schedule 2 of the EIA Regulations may also require an EIA if the
development exceeds the relevant thresholds and is considered to have
significant effects on the environment.
What is required

Page 35

Prior to the submission of an application requiring an EIA, it is advised that you
write to us to request a scoping opinion to identify the issues that the document
will need to include.
The request should include as much information as possible, but as a minimum
you should include;
 A location plan sufficient to identify the land;
 a brief description of the nature and purpose of the development, including
its location and technical capacity;
 an explanation of the likely significant effects of the development on the
environment; and such other information you may wish to provide.

Flood Risk Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policies SWDP28
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
In line with footnote 55, page 48 of the NPPF (2021), a Flood Risk Assessment is
required when:


A site-specific flood risk assessment should be provided for all
development in Flood Zones 2 and 3.



In Flood Zone 1, an assessment should accompany all proposals involving:
sites of 1 hectare or more; land which has been identified by the
Environment Agency as having critical drainage problems;



land identified in a strategic flood risk assessment as being at increased
flood risk in future; or land that may be subject to other sources of
flooding, where its development would introduce a more vulnerable use.



Applications for some minor development and changes of use should not
be subject to the sequential or exception tests but should still meet the
requirements for site-specific flood risk assessments set out in footnote 55
This includes householder development, small non-residential extensions
(with a footprint of less than 250m2) and changes of use; except for
changes of use to a caravan, camping or chalet site, or to a mobile home
or park home site, where the sequential and exception tests should be
applied as appropriate.

Information on identified flood zones (including areas of risk of flooding from
rivers and seas AND areas at risk of flooding from surface water) are included on
the following page;
Flood map for planning - GOV.UK (flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk)
Alternatively, the Council can provide information on whether a piece of land is
identified as being at flood risk.

Page 36

What is required
Requirements for a Flood Risk Assessment will depend on the size, type, and
location of the development. Information should be provided to show the
proposed development complies with the sequential and exception tests as set
out in the NPPF and described in more detail through the Planning Practice
Guidance. A Flood Risk Assessment Checklist can be found at the following
webpage: Flood risk and coastal change - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Further advice can be found on the following webpage: Flood risk assessments if you're applying for planning permission - GOV.UK
(www.gov.uk)
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/flood-risk-andcoastal- change/site-specific-flood-risk-assessment/what-level-of-detail-isneeded-in-a-flood- risk-assessment/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change

Foul Sewage Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP30
When required
All applications must indicate (where relevant) how foul water from the
proposed development will be dealt with. This information is requested on
planning application forms. A separate Foul Sewage Utilities Assessment report
will be required for: 


all applications proposing major development (10 or more houses, new
built development of 1000 sq. metres or more);
all applications proposing foul water generating development in an
area where there is a known mains foul sewerage drainage problem

In addition, applications for foul water generating development in areas where
there is no public sewerage must be accompanied by evidence to demonstrate
that the proposed means of disposal for foul and surface water is appropriate.
What is required
Assessments will need to include evidence that the proposed development would
not cause unacceptable risk to quality of water bodies or the general
environment.
For development connecting to mains, reference is made to the following
Severn Trent web page and information on the developer enquiry request
procedure. Any sewerage response should be provided as part of the
Assessment report.

Page 37

For proposal where off-line foul water treatment facilities are proposed the
Assessment shall include evidence to show why connection to mains systems is
not practical or feasible; and the proposed systems will not cause harm to the
environment.

Glint and Glare Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016- Policy SWDP 21
When required
With all planning applications proposing large expanses of glass.
What is required
The assessment should demonstrate the glint/glare effects of the proposed
development on adjacent building users and set out any measures proposed to
address any such effects.

Health Impact Assessment (HIA) and Health Impact Assessment
Screening
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP1
Planning for Health in South Worcestershire Supplementary Planning Document
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
A HIA is required for:
 Residential development and mixed-use sites of 25 dwellings or more
(gross)
 Employment sites of 5ha or more (Gross Internal Area)
 Retail developments of 500 sq. metres or more (Gross Internal Area)
 Other relevant proposals as requested by the local planning authority
HIA screening should be considered for proposals for or changes of use to:
Restaurants and cafes
Drinking Establishments Hot food takeaways
Betting shops and pay-day loan shops
Leisure, residential and non-residential institutions
Other relevant proposals as requested by the local planning authority
The screening process will identify whether the proposal requires a HIA.
What is required
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) ensures that the effects of development on both
health and health inequalities are considered and addressed during the planning
process. HIAs are undertaken to predict the health implications on a population
of implementing a plan, policy, programme, or project, aiding the decision-

Page 38

making process. HIA should aim to enhance the positive aspects of a proposal
through assessment, while avoiding or minimising any negative impacts, with
particular emphasis on disadvantaged sections of communities that might be
affected.
Not all proposals will necessitate HIA; the HIA screening process will determine
whether a HIA is needed for the scheme
See: Planning for Health SPD - South Worcestershire Development Plan
(swdevelopmentplan.org)

Heritage Statement - Assessment of impact of proposed
development on significance of heritage assets
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policies SWDP 6 & SWDP 24;
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
Any planning application or application seeking listed building consent which
affects the significance of a designated or non-designated heritage asset,
including its setting. Designated heritage assets include:  scheduled ancient monuments
 listed buildings
 registered parks and gardens
 registered battlefields
 conservation areas
 locally listed buildings
Non-designated heritage assets can include sites of archaeological interest (see
item 4 of this list on Archaeological Assessment and Evaluation Report).
What is required
An assessment will need to describe how a proposed development affects the
significance of any affected heritage assets, designated or non-designated,
including their setting. The level of detail necessary will vary according to the
asset’s importance and the nature of the development/works proposed. However,
as minimum, the relevant Historic Environment Record should be consulted (see
http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/info/20189/search_our_records/249/accessing
_archaeological_and_historic_environment_information). Heritage assets should
be assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary.
Applicants are advised to discuss proposals with either a planning officer or a
conservation officer before any application is made. General advice on what
should be included, as well as pro-forma that can be used, is provided on
the council website.
Further national advice on heritage significance is provided on the following webpage http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/conservingandenhancing-the-historic-environment/why-is-significance-important-in-decisiontaking/

Page 39

The Council has produced several Conservation Area Appraisals as well as
guidance notes relating to heritage issues. These may be useful in preparing
heritage statements and can be accessed through the following webpage: Conservation areas - Worcester City Council

Land Contamination Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016– Policy SWDP31
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
For all applications proposing new buildings where:




the development site is or has been used for purposes that may lead to
ground contamination (e.g., industrial land, agricultural land where
inappropriate spreading may have occurred); or
the site has a history of a contamination incident; or
the development site is within an established buffer zone to a site that is
known to suffer from ground contamination (for example land where
records held by the Council under Part 2A of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 indicates contamination is present).

The Council will consider whether an assessment is required depending upon
the nature and known history of the site and surrounding area as well as the
nature of the proposed development. It is more likely that an assessment will be
required where the proposed development involves a sensitive use such as
housing with gardens, schools, or nurseries.
Guidance on ascertaining whether a site may be affected by contaminated land is
available on the following Worcestershire Regulatory Services website: Contaminated Land | Worcestershire Regulatory Services
(worcsregservices.gov.uk)
What is required
An assessment should show whether the land affected by the proposed
development is contaminated and if so, is capable of appropriate remediation.
Where land contamination is suspected, a Phase 1 assessment should be
provided that identifies and assesses the sources, pathways, and receptors of
ground pollution. If an unacceptable risk of contamination is identified further site
investigations and appropriate reporting will be required.

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016– Policy SWDP25
National Planning Policy Framework

Page 40

When required
A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment will be required, depending on the
nature and type of the proposed development. Such an assessment will be
required for applications proposing: 




development other than householder development in or affecting Areas
of Outstanding Natural Beauty;
major development on un-developed land outside settlement boundaries;
development that will have a more than insignificant impact on valued
landscapes and/or views available to people and their visual amenity.
where the proposed development could impact on the established
landscape or interrupt key vistas in or around the city.

What is required
The assessment should identify the different elements that give a place its
unique character - landform, woodlands and specimen trees, hedgerows, land
use, historic artefacts, building styles and settlement patterns. From this
assessment, it should be demonstrated to what extent the proposed
development may alter the fabric, quality, and character of the landscape.
Policy SWDP25 also refers to the Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact
Assessment, published by the Landscape Institute and the Institute of
Environmental Management and Assessment.
The assessment should also identify where the proposed development can be
seen from (and record this information on a map with accompanying
photographs/photomontages from the various viewpoints), the extent to which
those views would be occupied by the proposed development (degree of visual
intrusion), the distance of the viewpoint from the site and whether views would
focus on the proposed development due to proximity or whether the proposed
development would form one element in a panoramic view.
Consideration should be given to seasonal differences arising from the degree
of vegetative screening and filtering of views that will arise in summer/winter;
and, to any cumulative effect of the proposals. From this assessment the
change in the character of the landscape resulting from the proposed
development and the change in views/visual amenity may be determined.
The assessment should also clearly set out mitigation measures to address any
adverse landscape and/or visual effects identified.

Lighting Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016– Policies SWDP21 and SWDP25
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
With applications that propose development including artificial external
lighting that may: -

Page 41




materially alter light levels outside the application site; or
affect residential amenities, impact on visual amenities, highway/ railway
safety or natural environment

Also, a Lighting Assessment will be required with all planning application
proposing floodlighting.
What is required
The Lighting Assessment should include: 



details of the external lighting and hours when it will be switched on;
lighting layout plan with beam orientation and a schedule of the
equipment proposed;
details of lighting levels and assessment on how the proposed lighting may
affect local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes, natural conservation,
and highway/ railway safety (or as appropriate).

Reference should be made to the Institute of Lighting Professionals Guidance
Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light 01/20 and details of Vertical
Illuminance and Luminaire Intensity at the nearest sensitive receptors provided.

Nature Conservation/Ecological Information (Ecological Survey
and Report)
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016– Policies SWDP 5 and 22
National Planning Policy Framework
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 places a
duty on all public authorities in England and Wales to have regard, in the exercise
of their functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity.
When required
Certain types of development are likely to require ecological surveys and
impact assessments, such as barn conversions, demolition of certain buildings
or alterations to roof spaces, removal of mature trees, orchards, scrub, and
hedgerows; development near waterbodies etc. Appropriate ecological
information should be provided with applications that: 


propose development that would affect a site designated for its
biodiversity or geological value; or
propose development that is like ly to have an impact on wildlife
and biodiversity.

Appendix 1 includes a table setting out types of development proposals where an
Assessment is required. Exceptions to when an assessment may not be required
are also explained in the table.
What is required

Page 42

Habitat surveys must be carried out by suitably qualified ecologists at specific
time periods during the appropriate stage of the year. Not doing a study at the
appropriate time can lead to delays or the refusal of the planning
application.
Clear information is required, which should be based on comprehensive, relevant,
and up to-date survey data, accurate assessments of impacts and practical
measures to avoid adverse impacts. Reference must be made to the national,
regional, or local contexts. Designated nature conservation sites are shown on
the SWDP interactive map. The relevant section of the application form should
accurately indicate the effects on these sites.
Ecological Information should:




record which habitats, features and species are present or likely to be
present on and, where appropriate, around the site;
identify the extent/ area/ length/ numbers (where appropriate) present;
map the habitat/ features distribution on site and/or in the surrounding
area shown on an appropriate scale plan; species distribution and use of
the area, site, structure, or feature (e.g., for feeding, shelter, breeding).

Any ecological report must identify and describe potential development impacts
likely to harm designated sites, priority habitats, other biodiversity and geological
features, protected/notable species and/or their habitats identified by the
survey. These should include both direct and indirect effects both during
construction and afterwards. Where harm is likely, evidence should be submitted
to show:





how
how
how
how

alternative designs or locations have been considered;
adverse effects will be avoided wherever possible;
unavoidable impacts will be mitigated or reduced;
impacts that cannot be avoided or mitigated will be compensated.

In addition, an Ecological Report will need to include information on proposed
works that will enhance, restore, or add to designated sites, priority habitats and
features or habitats used by protected species. It will be expected that, as for all
sites that biodiversity enhancement will be achieved. The anticipated changes
in legislation may mean this is a requirement for more or all applications. The
Assessment should also give an indication of likely changes to habitats and/or
how species numbers may be affected, if at all, after development, e.g., whether
there will be a net loss or gain.

Noise Impact Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP31
National Planning Policy Framework
Noise Policy Statement for England (and Explanatory Note)
When required

Page 43

Noise Assessments will be required to be provided with planning applications
proposing: new development that may create additional noise in areas where noise
sensitive development already exists; and
 new noise sensitive development in areas that already experiences
significant noise levels.
In this regard, development that may create additional noise would include: 




development in which industrial (Use Class B2 uses) would take place;
development that incorporates HGV turning, loading, and unloading
areas (such as large retail developments);
development that incorporates external plant and equipment
that generates noise;
development that may result in noise associated with the users of the
proposal, particular outside daylight hours e.g., night clubs, event venues.

Noise sensitive development will include residential properties, hostels, and
hotels.
What is required
All planning and reserved matter applications that raise issues of disturbance or
are a noise-sensitive development will need to be supported by a Noise Impact
Assessment. This must be undertaken by a suitably competent and qualified
acoustician. It must include;
i.
baseline monitoring,
ii.
predictions (supported by source data),
iii.
full details and specification of mitigation and
iv.
an assessment of the potential impact on residential receptors in
accordance with current standards.
Where appropriate the assessment shall be carried out in accordance with
relevant current British Standards. The standards primarily used are
BS8233:2014 Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings &
BS4142:2014+A1:2019 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and
commercial sound.
Where noise is likely to be an issue, applicants are advised to contact
Worcestershire Regulatory Services team prior to the submission of a planning
application

Odour Impact Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP31
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
Odour Impact Assessments will be required to be provided with planning
applications proposing the installation of new commercial kitchens.

Page 44

What is required
An Odour Impact Assessment is a qualitative assessment of the immediate
surroundings of a proposed development or operation. Its objective is to assess
the possible odour impact that may be caused. This approach considers the
location, scale and nature of the commercial kitchen, the location and operating
parameters of the extraction system, and the sensitivity of the local area to
determine the risk of odour effects.
An Odour Impact Assessment must be proportionate to the proposal. It may
include the following;
i.
ii.
iii.

a full quantitative assessment,
basic qualitative odour impact assessment, and
identification of sources, pathways and receivers.

A supporting Odour Management Plan, the scale of which will depend on risks,
must incorporate a description of the odour sources and details of monitoring,
evaluation and mitigation methods.
Pre-application advice should be sought from Worcestershire Regulatory Services
in order to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the consultation process
after the application has been validated.

Open Space/Recreational Facilities Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016– Policy SWDP38
National Planning Policy Framework
Playing Fields Policy (Sport England)
When required
SWDP policy SWDP38 sets out the limited circumstances when proposals for
development that would result in the loss of recreational land and buildings will
be permitted. These circumstances include where an assessment of community
and technical need clearly demonstrates the building or land is surplus to
requirements. An Open Space Assessment will therefore be required with all
applications that propose the loss of recreational buildings or land and where: 


an improved or an equivalent replacement facility is not proposed; or
the development is not for recreational and/or community purposes
related to the use of the open space or recreational buildings.

If it is likely to prejudice the use, or lead to the loss of use, of land being used as
a playing field
What is required
An assessment will need to show the impact of the proposed development on the
need for recreational facilities and open space around the application site.
Further guidance on how to assess needs and opportunities is provided by
Sports England (see

Page 45

If it involves Planning for sport | Sport England
If the proposal involves changes or loss of playing fields, it must include a written
statement identifying and explaining the exceptions Sport England’s Playing Pitch
Policy to which the application relates, plus supporting information as applicable
in accordance with Sport England’s requirements.

Planning Obligations – Draft Head(s) of Terms and CIL Eligibility
Statement
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016- Policies SWDP7, SWDP15 SWDP39
and SWDP62
National Planning Policy Framework
Planning Practice Guidance – (section on Planning Obligations) Emerging
Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document
When required
For all applications where the proposed development either
 exceeds thresholds set out in planning policies or guidance relating to
planning contributions/obligations (see above for policies and guidance
documents); or
 for other reasons requires the provision of contributions/planning
obligations.
What is required
A document should be provided that provides as much details as possible as
to planning obligations the applicants are willing to agree to and asking the
Council to consider as part of the assessment of the proposal. At the least, a
list of planning obligation heads of terms should be provided, including an
explanation as to why these comply with the tests as set out in para. 204 of the
NPPF.

Planning Statement
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016
When required
Planning Statement setting out comments in support of proposals can be
submitted with any planning application. A statement will be required when an
application proposes development contrary to the development plan policies, for
all major applications (including change of use), and development within the
Green Belt.
What is required
Planning statements should include all comments the applicants want the Council
to consider in support of the proposal. Statements should: -

Page 46




explain why the proposal complies with relevant development plan
policies; or if not in accordance with such policies;
explain why the applicant(s) consider permission should be granted
contrary to development plan policies.

Planning statements may also usefully include additional information, such as
suggested planning conditions and expand on information provided on the
application form. It would also be helpful for such documents to include an
explanation as to why it is considered the proposal represents sustainable
development, having regard to the advice in the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Refuse Storage and Collection Details
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 Policy SWDP33
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
New dwellings including apartments schemes, change of use applications, retail,
and industrial development
What is required
For residential units Storage areas for individual waste bins should consider the following criteria:
 Waste bins should be accommodated within the curtilage of each property
and should not be stored on the highway.
 Storage areas should be identified on plans and collection points hard
standing.
 Storage areas should be positioned to make it convenient for the
householder to transport waste/recycling, no more than 20 metres from
the external door.
 The maximum distance collection crews should have to move 2 wheeled
bins is 15 metres and gradients should not be more than 1 in 12. A risk
assessment will be required to determine collection points where standard
kerbside collection points are not available.
 The distance collectors cover transporting waste containers to and from the
collection vehicle should be minimised to achieve an economical service,
with steps being avoided.
The refuse collection area must demonstrate capacity for refuse and recycling
containers, and safe storage and where necessary to be appropriately stored.
Details of adequate access and details of distance for refuse lorry to the collection
area be provided
Refuse Collection details must be provided for commercial activity.

Page 47

Retail and Centres Impact Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP10
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
Such assessments are required with any planning application proposing



any development for main town centre use (see definition in NPPF) that is
not in a centre identified under policy SWDP10; or
any retail or leisure development with over 1,000 sq. metres (net) of
new floorspace and on sites outside the centres defined under SWDP policy
10.

What is required
Retail and Centres Impact Assessments will need to include evidence/information
to show: 





for all main town centre use development proposals, compliance with
the sequential test as set out under para. 88 of the NPPF;
the scale of development is appropriate to the location;
for all retail or leisure development of over 1,000 sq. metres, the impact
of the development proposal on existing, committed and planned public
and private investment in the centre(s) in the catchment of the proposal;
and
for all retail or leisure development of over 1,000 sq. metres, the impact
of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local
consumer choice and trade in the town centre and wider area, up to five
years from the time the application is made.

For major schemes where the full impact will not be realised in five years, the
impact should be assessed for up to ten years from the time the application is
made. Further information and guidance on these assessments is included as
part of the Planning Practice Guidance (see
Town centres and retail - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Statement of Community Involvement
When required
For all major and major change of use applications
What is required
The Statement should set out how the applicant has complied with the
requirements for pre-application consultation set out in the Local Planning
Authority’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement (paragraph 5.9 –
5.11) and demonstrating that the views of the local community have been sought
and considered in the formulation of development proposals.

Page 48

Streetscene Elevations
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP21
National Planning Policy Framework
Planning Practice Guidance – (Design section)
When required
Street scene elevations will be required with detailed applications proposing: 






major housing schemes;
infill housing; and
new housing or buildings of a similar scale or larger in sensitive locations
such as Conservation Areas.
changes in frontage or front elevations within a conservation area - eg
replacement shopfront or new dormers in roof area
when development from a change of use from retail to residential may
have visual affect the streetscene
new boundary treatments will impact on the streetscene

What is required
Drawings drawn to recognised scale (e.g., 1:100 or 1:200) showing (where
appropriate) existing street scene and street scene(s) as it would be as a result
of the proposed development. New buildings should be shown in context with
adjacent buildings (including property numbers where applicable).
As well as scaled drawings, illustrations and diagrams can be provided to show
the overall street environment – these are particularly useful when assessing
detailed applications proposing new housing development, where no street
currently exists.

Structural Survey
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policies SWDP6, SWDP21 and
SWDP24
When required
A structural survey is required with: 



planning application/applications for listed building consent for works
that include demolition of all or a significant part of a listed building; or
planning applications proposing demolition of an unlisted building in a
conservation area where the building is identified as locally important; or
a planning application proposing the conversion of an existing rural
building.

What is required
For all applications, the survey document shall accurately describe the structural
condition of the building to be demolished/converted. For applications proposing

Page 49

demolition of the building (be it listed, locally listed, or building to be
replaced) the survey shall set out an explanation as to why repairs work, or
alterations could not be carried out to address any structural problems. For
applications seeking permission for conversion of rural buildings a full schedule
of works (with plans) will be required to clearly explain and illustrate the works
required to carry out the proposed conversion.

Telecommunications Development – supplementary information
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 – Policy SWDP26
When required
All applications proposing telecommunications development, including
applications for prior approval under part 24 of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order).
What is required
A statement/ declaration that the proposal, when operational, will meet the
ICNIRP (International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection)
guidelines must also accompany all applications.
Where new base stations are proposed on non-established telecoms sites, a list of
alternative sites considered for the development is also required. All full planning
applications need to provide evidence of consultation with local schools and day
nurseries.
Photographs/Photomontages

Transport Assessment/Transport Statement
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan – policies SWDP4, and SWDP 21
National Planning Policy Framework
Worcestershire Local Transport Plan 4 – Streetscape Design Guide
When required
The Worcestershire Local Transport Plan 4 – Streetscape Design Guide sets out
thresholds for when a Transport Assessment (TA) or Transport Statement (TS)
will normally be required. These are as follows: -

Land Use

Size

Transport
No Assessment Transport
Assessment
Required
Statement Required
Required

B2– General Industrial

GFA

< 2500 sqm

>2500 <4000 sqm

> 4000 sqm

B8– Storage or

GFA

< 3000 sqm

>3000 <5000 sqm

>5000 sqm

Page 50

Distribution
C1– Hotels

Bedroom < 75 bedrooms

>75 <100 bedrooms

>100 bedrooms

C2– Res. Institutions—
Hospitals and Nursing
Homes

Beds

< 30 beds

>30 <50 beds

>50 beds

C2– Res. Institutions—
Residential Education

Student

< 50 students

>50 <150 students

>150 students

C2– Res. Institutions—
Institutional Hostels

Resident < 250 residents

>250 <400 residents

>400 residents

C3– Dwelling Houses

Dwelling < 50 units

>50 <80 units

>80 units

E – Business

GFA

< 1500 sqm

>1500 <2500 sqm

>2500 sqm

E – Food Retail

GFA

< 250 sqm

>250 <800 sqm

>800 sqm

E– Non-Food Retail

GFA

< 800 sqm

>800 <1500 sqm

>1500 sqm

E – Financial and
Professional Services

GFA

< 1000 sqm

>1000 <2500 sqm

>2500 sqm

E – Restaurants and Cafes

GFA

< 300 sqm

>300 <2500 sqm

>2500 sqm

Sui Generis – Drinking
Establishments

GFA

< 300 sqm

>300 <600 sqm

>600 sqm

Sui Generis – Hot Food
Takeaway

GFA

< 250 sqm

>250 <500 sqm

>500 sqm

Non-Residential
Institutions

GFA

< 500 sqm

>500 <1000 sqm

>1000 sqm

Assembly and
Leisure

GFA

< 500 sqm

>500 <1500 sqm

>1500 sqm

In addition to the above development thresholds, other considerations for when a
Transport Assessment is required are set out below.
Any development that is not in conformity with the adopted development plan.
Any development generating 30 or more two-way vehicle movements in any
hour.
 Any development generating 100 or more two-way vehicle movements per
day.
 Any development proposing 100 or more parking spaces.
 Any development that is likely to increase accidents or conflicts among
motorised users and non-motorised users, particularly vulnerable road
users such as children, disabled and elderly people.

Page 51





Any development generating significant freight or HGV movements per
day, or significant abnormal loads per year.
Any development proposed in a location where the local transport
infrastructure is inadequate. – for example, substandard roads, poor
pedestrian/cycle facilities and inadequate public transport provisions.
Any development proposed in a location within or adjacent to an Air
Quality Management Area (AQMA).

Travel plans are required to be provided with every Transport Assessment.
What is required
The general Transport Assessment methodology adopted by the County Council is
in-line with the NPPF and the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government - Planning Practice Guidance ‘Travel Plans, Transport Assessments
and Statements in Decision-Taking’ updated in March 2014.
The content of a Transport Assessment and Statement suitable to the Local
Highway Authority, is detailed at the link below:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-andstatements
Submissions should be in accordance with these standards.

Travel Plan
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016– Policy SWDP4
National Planning Policy Framework
Planning Policy Guidance – (section on Travel Plans)
When required
The provision of a Travel Plan, including Personalised Travel Planning is
mandatory for all residential developments of 50 dwellings or more.
Developments under 50 dwellings must instead produce a ‘Welcome Pack’, in
accordance with Worcestershire County Council guidelines
Worcestershire County Council offer a Personalised Travel Planning Service to
developers which can be procured through a Section 106 Agreement. This
removes the need for the applicant to implement their own scheme and places
the ownership of the Travel Plan in the hands of the Local Highway Authority.
There are no Travel Planning requirements from the Local Highway Authority for
residential sites of 5 or less dwellings, but this does not mean that sustainable
transport should not be encouraged where possible.
SWDP policy SWDP4 states that Travel Plans will be required for all major
development – that is for planning applications proposing 10 or more
dwellings or more than 1,000 sq. metres of non-residential building floorspace. .
What is required
A travel plan should set out measures to reduce the demand for travel by private
cars and stimulate cycling, walking and public transport use through agreed

Page 52

targets and monitoring arrangements. For town centre development
applications, draft travel plans will need to show that the needs of alternative
powered vehicles have been considered. Further advice is included on the
following webpages: http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/travel-planstransport- assessments-and-statements-in-decision-taking/travel-plans/

Tree Survey/ Arboricultural Statement
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016: - Policy SWDP22
National Planning Policy Framework
Planning Practice Guidance - Natural Environment – Biodiversity, ecosystems,
and green infrastructure section.
When required
 with applications where there are trees/hedges on the proposed
development site; and/or
 with applications when there are trees or hedges on land adjacent to the
proposed development site that could influence or be influenced by the
proposed development or be important as part of the local landscape
character.
Please note- this includes householder schemes
What is required
An Arboricultural Statement should show how the tree constraints on and
adjacent to the site have been correctly incorporated into the design and how
these trees are to be retained without damage during construction and future
occupancy. The statement must be produced in line with the guidelines set out
within BS5837:2012 and shall include:
(i)

Tree survey drawing and schedule - The survey shall provide clear data
regarding the species, size, age, condition, and useful life expectancy of
trees. It shall also categorize trees, groups of trees or woodlands in terms
of their quality and value within their existing context and not within the
context of the proposals.
(ii)
Arboricultural Constraints Plan (ACP) – An aid to layout design that shows
tree Root Protection Areas (RPA) as well as representing the effect that the
mature height and spread of retained trees will have on the development.
The ACP shall incorporate the tree survey information as well as illustrate
both the above-ground (shade patterns) and below- ground RPA
constraints posed by the trees.
(iii) Tree Protection Plan – scale drawing produced by an arboriculturist
showing the finalised layout proposals, tree retention and tree and
landscape protection measures detailed within the Arboricultural method.
(iv)
Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) – sets out the information
regarding the measures to be taken to protect the trees shown to be
retained on the submitted drawings. It should also detail the methodology

Page 53

for the implementation of any aspect of the proposal that has the potential
to result in loss or damage to a tree.

Ventilation/Extraction Statement
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016– Policy SWDP31
When required
A statement will be required with all applications for new restaurants, hot food
takeaways and bars/pubs which sell hot food where they are proposed next to
residential property. Residential property includes flats above neighbouring
shops.
What is required
Statements should include details of measures for fume extraction, including the
mechanical equipment proposed, the location of any external pipework or flues
and how a chimney would be capped to prevent ingress by rain.
Applications shall be submitted with the following information (where relevant):
 Elevations to show position, location, and height (where external) of any
required equipment.
 Proposed external finishes and fixings.
 Manufacturer’s specifications including maintenance requirements.
 Exhaust velocity at terminus.
 Silencing arrangements.
 Means of vibration isolation.
 Extraction fan acoustic performance (including noise emission in terms of
sound power and sound pressure levels, and narrow-band and/or one-third
octave band frequency spectra).
 Predicted odour and/or particulate concentrations.
 If involves capping a chimney, details of the final opening should be
provide (as restricted opening will hinder the dispersion of fumes/odours)

Viability Assessment
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 Policies SWDP7, SWDP15 and
SWDP62
Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document 2018
National Planning Policy Framework
When required
In instances where an applicant is proposing that they cannot provide the full
range of policy requirements (including affordable housing), as meeting such
requirements would render the proposal not economically viable.
What is required

Page 54

A Viability Assessment (VA) which contains sufficient evidence to enable the
Council to properly assess a scheme in accordance with the recommended
practice set out in the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) and the
National Planning Policy Framework.
It should include the following information: 




a quantity surveyor’s cost assessment;
market evidence of sales rates and site values;
a development and sales programme (if relevant)
details of any exceptional development costs.

Any information submitted in regard to viability must meet the requirements,
recommended approach and methodology of the NPPF and the latest National
Planning Policy Guidance.
NOTE: Applicants will be required to cover the fees associated with work being
considered by independent consultants on behalf of the Council.

Water Management Statement
Policy Drivers
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016– Policies SWDP29 and SWDP30
When required
For all applications that result in waste or surface water to be drained.
What is required
The level of information required will depend upon the development proposed.
However, the Statement should demonstrate that site drainage and runoff will
be managed in a sustainable and co-ordinated way that mimics natural drainage
network.
Information should be provided on how drainage system will protect water
quality and secure long-term maintenance of drainage schemes (see SWDP
policy SWDP29). For housing proposals further information should be provided in
water consumption to demonstrate compliance with policy SWDP30.

Page 55

Part III Recommended Submissions to Avoid Conditions or Delay
for the Development
Additional Recommended Submissions
Although the following details are not essential in all circumstances, to validate
your planning application their submission, where appropriate, is likely to reduce
the time between submitting your application and starting development. For
further advice about where this additional information is appropriate please speak
directly to the Council:
1. A schedule and samples of external facing materials, including those
relating to all land surfaces not built upon.
2. The design and location of all fences and walls.
3. Refuse and recyclable storage arrangements.
4. A detailed hard and soft landscaping scheme to include:
Land-levels and gradients resulting in the formation of any banks, terraces, or
other earthworks.
Hard surfaced areas and materials
Planting plans, specifications and schedules, planting size, species and
numbers/densities, trees to be retained and detailed regime for the ongoing and
longer-term maintenance of all soft landscaping
A scheme for the timing / phasing of work.
Existing plants / trees to be retained
5. Details of car parking spaces, including their surfacing.
6. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) to typically include:
 Methods for the mitigation of noise and vibration from building works, and from
the operation of any temporary power generation or pumping plant which will
operate overnight.
 Methods for dust control and suppression.
 Control of transfer of mud out of the site - details of wheel washing facilities
including location and type.
 The areas for the storage of plant and materials.
 Location of site compound.
 A programme of works including phasing, management of deliveries and haul
routes, measures for the control of traffic to and from the site, parking and
temporary traffic management arrangements during construction and demolition
 Construction staff parking arrangements and construction working times .
The documents should make reference to the Worcestershire Regulatory Services
Code of Best Practice for Demolition and Construction Sites 2nd Edition September
2020 in terms of Noise, Vibration and Dust Emissions and Working
Hours. https://www.worcsregservices.gov.uk/media/raejo4k2/wrs-contractorguidance-2nd-edition-v-1-0.pdf

Page 56

7. Draft S106 Agreement/ Heads of Terms. - Table 2.1 of the Planning
Obligations SPD sets out the general thresholds for contributions and obligations.

Part Four: Further guidance regarding ecology and nature conservation requirements of the
Local Planning Authority
Figure 1 Local Requirement for Protected Species: Criteria and Indicative Thresholds (Trigger List) for when a Survey
and Assessment is required1

Proposed development which includes the modification, conversion, demolition or
removal of buildings and structures (especially roof voids) involving the following:
▪
▪

all agricultural buildings (e.g., farmhouses and barns) particularly of traditional
brick or stone construction and/or with exposed wooden beams greater than
20cm thick;
all buildings with weather boarding and/or hanging tiles that are within 200m
of woodland and/or water, are close to lines of trees and/or a network of hedges;

▪

pre-1960 detached buildings and structures within 200m of woodland and/or
water;

▪

pre-1914 buildings within 400m of woodland and/or water;

▪

pre-1914 buildings with gable ends or slate roofs, regardless of location;

▪

all caves, tunnels, kilns, ice-houses, adits, military fortifications, air raid shelters,
cellars and similar underground ducts and structures;

▪
all bridge structures, aqueducts and viaducts (especially over water and wet
ground).
Proposals involving lighting of churches and listed buildings. Flood lighting of green
space within
50m of woodland, water, field hedgerows or lines of trees with obvious connectivity
to woodland or water.
Proposals affecting woodland, or field hedgerows and/or lines of trees with obvious
connectivity to woodland or water bodies.
1

⚫

⚫
⚫
⚫
⚫
⚫
⚫

⚫

⚫

Invertebrates

⚫

Reptiles

⚫

Badger

⚫

Water Vole

⚫

Dormouse

Breeding Birds

Trigger a Protected/Priority Species Survey and Assessment

Otters

Barn Owls

⚫

Proposals for Development That Will

Page 57

Bats

Column 1

Great Crested Nets

Species Likely to Be Affected and For Which A Survey May Be
Required

⚫

⚫

⚫

Based on “Local Requirements for Biodiversity: Validation Checklists”, ALGE (Association of Local Government Ecologists), June 2007

Invertebrates

Reptiles

Badger

Water Vole

Dormouse

Otters

Breeding Birds

Trigger a Protected/Priority Species Survey and Assessment

Bats

Proposals for Development That Will

Barn Owls

Column 1

Great Crested Nets

Species Likely to Be Affected and For Which A Survey May Be
Required

Proposed tree work (felling or lopping) and/or development affecting:
▪
▪
▪

mature and veteran trees that are older than 100 years;
trees with obvious holes, cracks, or cavities,
trees with a girth greater than 1m at chest height;

⚫
⚫
⚫

⚫

⚫

Where there are no existing great crested newt records: ponds within 500 m of Major
proposals;
ponds within 250 m of or Minor proposals;
Where there are local records and no barriers to movement: all ponds within
500 m of all proposal sites.
(Note: A major proposals is one that is more than 10 dwellings or more than 0.5
hectares or for non-residential development is more than 1000m2 floor area or more
than 1 hectare)
Proposals
affecting or within 50 m of rivers, streams, canals, lakes, reedbeds or
⚫
other aquatic habitats.

Proposed development affecting any buildings, structures, feature, or locations where
protected, or priority species are known to be present. *
* Confirmed as present by either a data search (e.g., via the Worcestershire Biological
Records Centre) or as notified to the developer by the local planning authority, and/or
by Natural England, the Environment Agency or other nature conservation organisation.

⚫

⚫

⚫

Proposals affecting ‘derelict’ land (brownfield sites), allotments, mature gardens, and
railway land.
Proposals affecting traditional orchards and mature gardens.

Page 58

Proposals affecting gravel pits, quarries and natural cliff faces and rock outcrops
with crevices, caves, or other fissures.

⚫
⚫
⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

As records indicate

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

⚫

Page 59
N.B.: Whilst carrying out a protected species survey please take note of the
site’s potential to support other protected or priority species and extend the
survey accordingly if possible.

Exceptions for When a full Species Survey and Assessment may not be
required:
a. Following consultation by the applicant at the pre-application stage, the LPA has
stated in writing that no protected species surveys and assessments are required.
b. If it is clear that no protected species are present, despite the guidance in the
above table indicating that they are likely, the applicant should provide evidence
with the planning application to demonstrate that such species are absent (for
example, this might be in the form of a letter or brief report from a suitably
qualified and experienced person, or a relevant local nature conservation
organisation).
c. If the development proposal will not affect any protected species present, then only
limited information needs to be submitted. This information should, however, (i)
demonstrate that there will be no significant effect on any protected species present
and (ii) include a statement acknowledging that the applicant is aware that it is a
criminal offence to disturb or harm protected species should they subsequently be
found or disturbed.
In some situations, it may be appropriate for an applicant to provide a protected
species survey and report for only one or a few of the species shown in the Table
above e.g., those that are likely to be affected by a particular activity. Applicants
should make clear which species are included in the report and which are not because
exceptions apply.

Page 60
Part Five – Appendices
Appendix 1 – Guidance on Ecology Information Requirements for
Planning Application
This document provides guidance on the place of biodiversity or ecological issues in the
planning application process; the term ‘biodiversity’ is commonly used when referring to
wildlife and includes all habitats and species of plants and animals, together with the natural
systems that support them. The all-encompassing term means that wildlife interest can be
found everywhere, from moorland expanses and wide river valleys to small gardens and
disused, brownfield land. The land-use planning system plays an important role in protecting
and enhancing the natural environment and all planned developments must take into account
their impacts on the natural environment.
Current government planning guidance strongly encourages all development to avoid causing
environmental harm and to achieve a net gain in biodiversity wherever possible. And
forthcoming legislation will make it a legal obligation for developments to deliver a net gain in
biodiversity.
This means that the development of a site should leave the natural environment in a better
condition than before the development began.
In addition to the national guidance and legislation the Council has also developed Local Policies
to specially identify, protect and enhance features of particular importance to Worcester.
To demonstrate to the Council that a development will not contravene nature conservation
legislation and will achieve no net loss and net gain in biodiversity it will be necessary for most
applicants to submit an Ecology Statement with their planning application.

What information should be included in an Ecology Statement
This document provides advice on the scope and content of Ecology Statements which should
be required from applicants.
The Statement must provide information on –
1. The current ecological value of the site
2. The likely impacts that the development proposal will have on the natural
environment
3. Measures to be taken to avoid, mitigate* and compensate* for harmful ecological
impacts
4. Measures to be taken to achieve a net gain in biodiversity**
* Mitigation means alleviating an impact, for example removing vegetation only at certain
times of the year to reduce the risk of nesting birds being harmed, while compensation involves
replacing lost habitats, for example planting new trees as replacements for any lost.
** In some cases, a Biodiversity Metric (a calculation) will need to be used to demonstrate a
net gain. It’s likely that a professional ecologist will need to calculate the Metric on behalf of
applicants. Current government guidance is that all developments should deliver a 10% net
gain in biodiversity as measures using a Metric. Albeit developments are of many different
types and sizes and will be located in many different areas.
This means that the scope and overall content of the Ecology Statement should be
proportionate to the likely level of ecological impacts which the development scheme will
cause, and any net gain requirement should be proportionate.

Page 61
Overarching Principles
If professional ecological surveys and assessments are considered to be necessary to inform
an application as part of an Ecology Statement these surveys must be carried out and the
results submitted before the application is decided. This is because the presence of protected
species or protected nature conservation sites would be material to the determination of the
application

 Ecology surveys and assessments must be carried out by suitably qualified people and to
appropriate standards. For information on how to find a suitably qualified ecologist see
Appendix 2

 Species can be mobile in their habits and habitats can change over time. Ecology surveys must

therefore be sufficiently up to date. In general surveys more than 18 months – 2 years old will
be considered to be out of date

 Some wildlife is only evident at certain times of the year. This makes it important to plan
ahead, and consider ecology at an early stage in project planning. For most places ecology
surveys carried out in mid-winter are unlikely to be very informative.

 Don’t make quick assumptions about the likely ecological value of sites – for example, places
in remote countryside may have limited ecological interest (such as some arable fields) while
some urban sites may have significant interest.

Deciding when a Professional Ecology Survey and Assessment needed to
inform an Ecology Statement
Householder applications and some building conversions
Most householder applications will not require the involvement of professional ecologists. For
some properties very close to designated nature conservation sites simple method statements
could be prepared explaining how work can be undertaken without causing harm to habitats
or species.
The exception is when it is considered possible that a development could cause significant
harm to bats. All UK bats and their resting places
are legally protected, and lots of bat roosts are found in houses.
If the proposed works will affect existing buildings or features with any of the following a bat
survey will be required 
hanging tiles timber cladding or weatherboarding, roof voids where the building is within
200m of woodland or water this can include river or canal.

pre-1960 buildings or structures within 200m of woodland and/or water

pre-1914 buildings or structures within 400m of woodland and/or water

pre-1914 buildings with gable ends, traditional clay tile roofs or slate roofs, hanging tiles
or weatherboarding regardless of location

any structure with gaps around roof structures such as flashing, ridge tiles, facia and soffit
boards within 200m of woodland or water

Structures where there is known current or historic bat use
Bats can, and do, turn up in unlikely places. If bats are suspected at any time a suitably
qualified person should be contacted for advice.
The Ecology Statement must include details of the survey, and if bats are found full details of
proposed avoidance, mitigation and compensation measures must be presented.
Useful biodiversity enhancement measures for householder applications that could be included
in Ecology Statements are  The installation of bat roosting features, including artificial bat boxes
 The installation of bird nesting boxes
 Hedgehog boxes
 New landscaping

Page 62
Prior Notification applications
Ecology Statements will not be required with Prior Notification applications, but applicants are
reminded that nature conservation legislation protecting rare and endangered species still
applies to all development work, irrespective of whether any objections have been raised to
Prior Notifications.
The Council may advise an applicant of the need to take into account protected species during
the course of any work which it is made aware of through Prior Notification applications.

Applications requiring Environmental Impact Assessment – Environmental
Statement
For applications which the Council decides require Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA
developments) the Council can on request issue formal Scoping Opinions about the extent of
ecological information needed to inform the application. EIA developments are likely to require
comprehensive Ecological Impact Assessments (EcIA) and will need to demonstrate a net gain
in biodiversity.

Other applications, including outline applications
Larger applications which do not need full EcIA will nevertheless require ecological surveys and
assessments to inform Ecology Statements, proportionate to the likely impacts of the
development.
Ecology surveys follow a number of steps -

Preliminary Ecological Appraisals
The first step is to carry out a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA). PEAs usually involve first
collecting available desktop information about
whether a site is known to be designated for its wildlife interest or may be likely to support
any notable* habitats and species.
This information is available from Worcestershire Biological Records Centre
Worcestershire Biological Records Centre (wbrc.org.uk)
A charge may be made for the supply of data from the Centre. The results of data searches
must be included in the Ecology Statement.
* For land-use planning purposes some habitats and species are regarded more important
than others because they are rare, endangered,
vulnerable, irreplaceable, or legally protected. These habitats and species are often referred
to as ‘notable’.
It needs to be remembered that in many cases desktop data may not be complete – many
places will not have been surveyed in the past and
no existing information may be available.
In the absence of sufficient desk-top data, to decide if further ecology surveys may be needed,
as general guidance if any of the following
features are present on a development site and are likely to be affected by the development,
further survey steps will be needed –






Sites with ponds or within 250m of a pond
Old and Veteran trees
Trees with obvious holes, cracks, cavities, or heavy vegetation (e.g., ivy)
Sites with streams, rivers, or lakes on or within 10m of the application site
Woodlands and hedgerows

Page 63


Unmanaged grassland and scrub vegetation

If a PEA identifies that all or part of a site is specially protected (for example as a Local Nature
Reserve or a Site of Special Scientific Interest) there will be a presumption against any
development that would cause harm to the protected site. If harm cannot be avoided mitigation
and compensation measures will be sought.
Where a PEA has assessed a development as having a negligible effect on biodiversity no
further level of survey is required, but the Ecology
Statement must include measures to enhance biodiversity wherever possible.

Extended Phase 1 Habitat Surveys and UK Habitat Classification Surveys
If following the PEA further survey is needed the next step would be to undertake an Extended
Phase 1 Habitat Survey or a UK Habitat
Classification Survey. This will involve a site visit by a professional ecologist who will identify,
map, and assess the habitats on the site and
prepare a report. As part of this survey the ecologist will identify the potential of the site to
support any notable species. Surveys to UK Habitat Classification Standard will be needed if a
biodiversity metric will be used (see below).
The resulting survey report will form part of the Ecology Statement. It must give details of
who carried out the survey, dates and times, survey methodologies and full results.
The Phase 1 habitat survey will enable the ecologist to propose measures, mitigation,
compensation, and net gain measures and these
measures must be presented in the Ecology Statement. The Ecology Statement must also state
how alternative designs or locations have been considered for the development to avoid any
harm.

Surveys for specific species
If the Phase 1 survey identifies that a development has the potential to cause harm to any
notable specific surveys for these species will be
needed. In Worcester, notable species which may be encountered include –
 Bats
 Slow worms
 Great crested newts
 Badgers
It’s important that the impacts of a development on any notable species are fully understood
so that mitigation and compensation measures
can be properly informed. This may involve the ecologists needing to make repeat visits to
find out how species are using the site and this can
take time. Again, the need for early planning for ecology is stressed.
The species survey report will form part of the Ecology Statement. It must give details of who
carried out the surveys, dates and times, survey methodologies and full results.
Species surveys will enable the ecologist to propose mitigation, compensation and net gain
measures and these measures must be presented in the Ecology Statement.
To undertake works which will affect certain protected species a License will first need to be
obtained from Natural England. Obtaining a License is a separate and additional process to
obtaining planning permission, but Natural England will be unlikely to grant a License unless
planning permission has first been granted. More information on Licenses can be found at –
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/wildlife-licences

Page 64
Using a Biodiversity Metric
The use of Biodiversity Metrics to calculate biodiversity losses and gains on development sites
is relatively new and the available Metrics are still in development stages, but it is likely that
the use of Metrics will become a very important part of Ecology Statements in the future, and
particularly when net biodiversity gain becomes a legal requirement.
Currently the most widely accepted Metric is one developed by government and is often
referred to as the ‘Defra Metric’. This can be found at
–http://nepubprod.appspot.com/publication/5850908674228224
To use the Metric properly UK habitat classification surveys will be needed and Metric
calculations will need to be carried out by suitably qualified ecologists.
If a Metric is used the full results of calculations must be included in the Ecology Statement.

Off-site Compensation and off-site Net Gain
Sometimes it will not be possible to provide sufficient compensation for harm to habitats or
biodiversity net gain within the application boundary. In these cases off-site habitat creation
and enhancement may be considered.
For off-site habitat compensation and enhancement as much detail as possible should be
included in the Ecology Statement, for example –
 The proposed location of the compensation measures
 Details of habitats to be created /enhanced
 Landowner agreements
 Costs of habitat creation and enhancement
 Future maintenance and monitoring
Applicants may own land other than the application site where habitat enhancements can be
implemented, or it may be possible for the Council to secure a financial contribution from
developers to improve local greenspace owned and managed by others.

Appendix 2 – Relevant Nature Conservation Legislation
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (and as amended)
Under the terms of this Act in the UK it is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb
most protected species, or to destroy their resting
places or breeding sites.
Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations (2017 and as amended)
A EU Directive which provides protection to designated sites (including Special Areas of
Conservation and Special Protection Areas) and species and provides the highest level of
environmental protection within the UK.
Protection of Badgers Act 1992
Makes it illegal to cause harm to badgers and badger setts

Appendix 3 – Where to find an ecological consultant
Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management (CIEEM)
https://www.cieem.net/
Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment
https://www.iema.net/

Appendix 4 - Useful Contacts & Further Information

Page 65
Natural England hold a wide variety of publications providing standing advice on protected
species, habitats and development. All are available to download free of charge.
Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC) is the statutory adviser to Government on UK
and international nature conservation. JNCC
offer further information on wildlife law, designated nature conservation sites and a full list of
species protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/
Worcestershire Wildlife Trust
The Trust campaigns for wildlife in Worcestershire and undertakes pro-active nature
conservation and has a consultancy team

Appendix 5- Refuse details for Residential Development
The Council operates an Alternate Weekly Collection of refuse and recycling, so it is essential
that the correct capacity for refuse and recycling is provided.
For single properties, a 180-litre black bin for residual waste and a 240-litre green bin for
recyclable waste are provided. Smaller 140 litre bins are available for sole occupants or small
families that do not generate much waste. For multi-occupancy dwellings, we provide larger
1100 litre communal bins with a 660-litre size as an alternative where access is difficult.
Size (L) &
Type

Material

W (mm)

D
(mm)

H
(mm)

Comments

140 Black

Plastic

490

550

1060

Standard for single flats also
available as an alternative to 190L
for low occupancy households

140 Green

Plastic

490

550

1060

Standard for single flats also
available as an alternative to 180L
for low occupancy households

180 Black

Plastic

525

740

1070

Standard for most properties

240 Black

Plastic

580

730

1060

Available for families with 6 or more
permanently residing in the
property or for specific medical
needs (additional non-infectious
waste)

240 Green

Plastic

580

730

1060

Standard for most properties

240 Brown

Plastic

580

730

1060

Garden waste – Optional
subscription service

Figure 2. Containers Required for External Storage of Waste for Housing developments

Page 66

Specifications for External Storage Areas for Housing Developments
Storage areas for individual waste bins should consider the following criteria:
Waste bins should be accommodated within the curtilage of each property and should not be
stored on the highway.
Storage areas should be identified on plans and collection points hard standing.
Storage areas should be positioned to make it convenient for the householder to transport
waste/recycling, no more than 20 metres from the external door.
The maximum distance collection crews should have to move 2 wheeled bins is 15
metres and gradients should not be more than 1 in 12. A risk assessment will be
required to determine collection points where standard kerbside collection points are not
available.
The distance collectors cover transporting waste containers to and from the collection vehicle
should be minimised to achieve an economical service, with steps being avoided.
In developments where bin stores are not provided, there must be made space available on
the property for bins to be stored by each householder. Bins must not be stored the public
highway.

Waste Container Collection from Housing Developments
Householders are required to present their bins at the edge of their property boundary, at the
point nearest the highway, by 07:00 on collection day, and return them to their storage area,
as soon as possible following collection.
Refuse collection vehicles must be able to stop and park safely within 15 metres of any
individual dwelling boundary or within 15 metres of the bin storage area.
Where storage facilities are located within the development and access is to be provided for
refuse collection vehicles, attention should be paid to the following:
Vehicle length
11,230 mm
Vehicle width
2,550 mm
Vehicle turning circle - kerb to kerb
21,188 mm (dia)
Vehicle turning circle - wall to wall
23,816 mm (dia)
Vehicle height clearance
4,000 mm
Figure 3. Details of refuse vehicles
Access to developments, wherever possible, should enable collection vehicles to continue in a
forward gear and minimise reversing manoeuvres. Reversing of waste collection vehicles is a
dangerous operation and requires the use of reversing assistants to support the driver. Where
reversing cannot be avoided, vehicles should not be required to reverse distances in excess of
12 metres. Longer distances may be considered but the routes should be straight and free
from obstruction.
Roadways and other surfaces used by refuse vehicles must be designed to withstand a laden
weight of not less than 26 tonnes. Block paving should be avoided in turning areas.
Traffic regulation orders should be considered if access to a specific part of a development
would not be possible if vehicles are parked in the area, particularly opposite dropped
kerbstones designed for wheeled bin access.

Page 67
Flats and Apartment Developments

Containers Required for External Storage of Waste for Flats and Apartments
Communal storage facilities are deemed to be more appropriate for flats and apartments and should be
provided at strategic locations throughout the site. The Council operates an Alternate Weekly Collection of
refuse and recycling, and it is expected that new developments should allow sufficient space for the
number of bins required to hold residual and recyclable waste separately for 2 weeks for the number of
dwellings being served.
Our guidance assumes that one 1100 litre bin of mixed refuse should serve 4 flats/apartments for 2 weeks
(all household waste generated), i.e., 275 litres per flat. This assumption allows for single or multiple
occupancy. A combination of different bins can be arranged for any size of development.
Flats/apartments with families or more than 2 occupants will require a higher storage capacity for refuse.
Please seek further advice (See 1)
It is advisable to contact the Waste Management Department at the Council to verify that the numbers of
bins that have been allocated are sufficient for the development.
Where Houses of Multiple Occupation exist (HMO) then please refer to appendix 2.
Developers will be required to purchase 1100/660 litre bins for residential refuse and recycling. Bins need
to be purchased directly with the Council and not through another supplier.

Size (L) & Type

Material

660 Black
Plastic
660 Green
Plastic
1100 Black
Plastic
1100 Green
Plastic
Figure 4. The sizes of bins currently supplied

W
(mm)

D
(mm)

H
(mm)

Comments

1360
1360
1360
1360

780
780
1080
1080

1200
1200
1350
1350

Communal
Communal
Communal
Communal

properties
properties
properties
properties

Waste Storage Areas for Flats and Apartments
Storage areas should be designed to accommodate bins as calculated above.
The design of communal bin storage areas is vitally important within a development site. Poorly designed
areas can lead to contamination of materials and litter, potentially resulting in public health issues. They
must be an integral part of the development, located to avoid conflict with parking areas and to ensure
that residents, collection vehicles and collectors can obtain access at all times.

Storage areas for Waste Bins for Flats and Apartments
Storage areas should be identified on plans and need to be within 10m of where the refuse vehicle can
safely stop on the nearest highway and should be easily accessible for the collection crews avoiding steps
and steep slopes/ramps.
The design of storage areas should allow for easy removal of the bins over smooth, continuous surfaces,
including the use of dropped kerbs to allow for emptying of the bins. Paths and alleyways should be not
less than 1500mm wide for bulk bins.
All bin storage areas should have a suitable enclosure, e.g., wooden fencing, brick or concrete
walls to contain the bins.
Enclosures should have double doors with a clear opening of at least 1500mm and with a mechanism to
hold doors open during collection.

Page 68
Where storage areas are secured, arrangements need to be made with us for the refuse collectors to gain
access. Waste can be collected any time between 7.00 and 16:30.
Areas should be provided on suitable hard standing with adequate drainage.
Access for all residents including people with disabilities and wheelchairs users should be considered in line
with appropriate building regulations and guidance.
Storage areas should be well illuminated to allow residents to use the areas in the evenings and feel safe
doing so.
Bins should be located away from windows and ventilators to avoid any nuisance odours entering the
premises.
It is recommended that internal bin stores for sack storage are ventilated to outside air.
It is good practice to provide signage at the storage points to remind residents of the need to segregate
recyclable materials and to use the correct bin for each specific material source. Please contact the Waste
Management Department to discuss the provision of signage.

Waste Collection for Flats and Apartments
Two options exist for the collection of waste bins from flats and apartments:
1. Waste bins are collected directly from the container store.
2. Waste bins are collected from an agreed collection point.
It is the responsibility of the caretaker / management company (or similar) to allow the collection crews
access to the container stores / collection point on collection day and to ensure that access is not
restricted, for example by parked cars.
The Waste Management Department can take responsibility for a key or access code to gain access into a
development or bin area. The preferred option is for a lock with a code to be used to avoid the use of keys.
Access to developments, wherever possible, should enable collection vehicles to continue in a forward gear
and minimise reversing manoeuvres .

No of
Flats/Apartments

Residual
Allocation

Q

Recycling
Allocation

Q

Total
Capacity
(L)

Capacity
per Flat
(L)

1

140

1

140

1

280

280

2

140

2

140

2

560

280

3

140

3

140

3

840

280

4

660

1

660

1

1320

330

5

1100

1

660

1

1760

352

6

1100

1

1100

1

2200

367

7

1100

1

1100

1

2200

314

8

1100

1

1100

1

2860

358

Or 180
B and
240 G

Page 69
9

660

1

1100

1

660

1

1100

660

2

3080

342

1

1100

1

660

1

660

1

3520

352

1100

1

1100

1

660

1

660

1

3520

320

1100

1

1100

1

660

1

660

1

3520

293

13

1100

2

1100

1

660

1

3960

305

14

1100

2

1100

2

4400

314

15

1100

2

1100

2

4400

293

1100

2

660

1

1100

2

5060

316

1100

2

660

1

1100

2

5060

298

1100

2

1100

2

660

1

660

1

5720

318

1100

3

1100

2

5500

289

1100

2

1100

2

660

1

660

1

5720

286

1100

3

660

1

1100

3

7260

303

28

1100

4

1100

4

8800

314

32

1100

5

1100

4

9900

309

36

1100

5

1100

5

11000

306

40

1100

6

1100

5

12100

303

44

1100

6

1100

6

13200

300

48

1100

7

1100

6

14300

298

52

1100

7

1100

7

15400

296

56

1100

8

1100

7

16500

295

60

1100

8

1100

8

17600

293

10
11
12

16
17
18
19
20
24

Figure 5. Communal bin calculations (Capacity per flat =275 litres per fortnight)

Page 70

No of Rooms

Residual
Allocation

Q

Recycling
Allocation

Q

Total
Capacity
(L)

1-4

190

1

240

1

480

5-7

190

2

240

2

860

8-10

190

3

240

3

1290

10+

1100

1

1100

1

2200

Figure 6 – House of Multiple Occupancy Bin Calculations
Should you require further guidance on the below requirements, please contact:
Worcester City Council Waste Team  01905 722233 waste@worcester.gov.uk

Works to trees subject to a TPO

Works to trees in a conservation area or subject
to a TPO

Demolition in a Cons. Area

Prior Approval for COU Part 3 GDPO 2015

Prior notification Agricultural or Forestry

Prior Approval of larger home extension &
additional storeys

Discharge of conditions

Removal or Variation of condition

Non-material Amendment

Lawful Dev. Certificate Proposed

Lawful Dev. Certificate Existing

Advert Consent

Telecommunications

Listed Building Consent

Reserved Mattered

Outline with All Matters reserved

Full PP & COU

Householder

Green = Always required
Yellow =May be required- Dependant on proposals
Y = Needed in all circumstances
Part I National Validation Requirements
Completed forms
Ownership certificates
The correct fee

y
y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y
y

y

y

y

y

Design and access statement

y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y

y
y

y
y

y
y

y

y

y

y

y

y

y

y

y

y

y

y

y

y

Fire Statement **
Block plan
Existing site plan
Proposed site plan
Existing elevations
Proposed elevations
Existing floor plans
Proposed floor plans
Roof plans
Site Survey and Finished Floor Level Plans
*When there are additional storeys only

Part II Local Application Requirements
Affordable Housing Statement

Agricultural Land Appraisal
Air Quality Assessment

Y*

Page 71

Location plan

y
y
y
y

Archaeological Desk-based Assessment and Field Evaluation Report

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) – Assumption of Liability Form

Daylighting/ Sunlight Assessment
Economic Statement
Employment Site Assessment
Energy Assessment
Environmental Impact Assessment
Flood Risk Assessment

y

y

y

y

Foul Sewerage Assessment
Glint and Glare assessment
Health Impact Assessment and HIA Screening
Heritage Statement
Land Contamination Assessment
Lighting Assessment
Nature Conservation/Ecological Information (Ecological
Survey and Report)
Noise Impact Assessment
Odour Impact Assessment
Open Space/ Recreational Facilities Assessment
Planning Obligations and Heads of Terms and CIL Eligibility Statement

Planning Statement
Refuse Storage and Collection Details
Retail and Centres Impact Assessment
Statement of Community Involvement
Streetscene Elevations
Structural Survey
Telecommunication Supporting Information
Transport Statement/ Transport Assessment
Travel Plans
Tree Survey / Arboricultural Assessment
Ventilation & Extraction Details

y

Page 72

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment

Viability Assessment
Water Management Statement

y

Page 73

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 75

Agenda Item 9

Application Number

21/00500/FUL

Site Address

Mister Construction Ltd, South Street, Worcester

Description of
Development

A new mixed-use development comprising 2no. ground
floor commercial (Class E) units and 4no. upper floor
apartments.

Expiry Date

22 July 2021

Applicant

Misters Bros Ltd.

Agent

Zebra Architects

Case Officer

Thomas Gabriel
thomas.gabriel@worcester.gov.uk

Ward

Cathedral Ward

Reason for Referral to
Committee

In the view of the Corporate Director the application
raises matters of judgement which should be considered
by the Planning Committee.

Key Issues

The principle of development and whether the proposal
would be sustainable form of development having regard
to the 3 dimensions of sustainable development in terms
of its economic role, social role and environmental role.
https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/21/00500
/FUL

Web link to application

Recommendation

The Corporate Director - Planning and Governance
recommends that the Planning Committee refuses
planning permission for the reasons set out at
Section 9 of this report.

1.

Background

1.1

The application was registered on 27 May 2021 and was due for a decision on 22 July
2021. An extension of time for the determination of the application has been sought
to allow determination by the Planning Committee.

1.2

The application has been referred to the Planning Committee in accordance with the
adopted Scheme of Delegation.

Page 76

2.

The site and surrounding area

2.1

The application site comprises a cleared vacant site along South Street, accessed
from the City Walls Road. The site was previously used as a builder’s yard.

2.2

The surrounding buildings are up to three stories in height and comprise residential
uses Fownes hotel and its associated car park and industrial/ commercial activities.
There is also a Western Power substation adjacent to the site. There are also
residential properties on the opposite side of City Walls Road.

2.3

A hand car wash and a number of other small commercial venture are located
directly behind the site on Carden Street. Enterprise Rent-a-Car are also nearby.

2.4

The area of the site is 307.04sqm/ 0.03ha.

Figure 1 – Location Plan
3.

The proposals

3.1

The proposal is for a three storey building with two Class E commercial units on the
ground floor, with 4no 2 bedroom apartments above.

3.2

The ground floor commercial units are 66.3sqm and 89.2sqm. Residential units will
all be 81.5sqm.

3.3

Both commercial/office units at ground floor are independently accessed via a central
covered entrance point. Generous glazing to the southern and eastern elevations
introduce daylight into both spaces and ensure that the primary facade is as
interactive as possible.

Page 77

The residential circulation core is located to the rear of the building, along with a
number of other service-led spaces, in order to allow the habitable zones of each flat
to be sited on the front elevation.
3.4

Balconies will be provided to each flat to provide necessary private amenity space on
the restricted site. The single-storey bin and cycle store is located on a small portion
of land directly behind the existing substation.

3.5

The proposal will be of a contemporary appearance. Two large panels of projecting
brickwork directly above the buildings entrance will be the only exception to this and
will aid in directing those unfamiliar with the building to its main access point.

3.6

The recessed first and second floor apartments would be primarily clad in grey Zinc
panelling to echo nearby slate roofing and help suppress the visual dominance of the
building on the street. Large glazing panels with minimum fenestration and a series
of timber-clad infill panels will also help to achieve this.

3.7

The application is accompanied by a full set of plans together with a suite of
supporting documents that include:
Site Location and Block Plan (ref: Zeb1501_PL001 Rev -)
Proposed Floor Plans (ref: Zeb1501_PL101 Rev -)
Proposed Elevations (ref: Zeb1501_PL201 Rev -)
Proposed 3D images (ref: Zeb1501_PL501 Rev -)
Design and Access Statement (ref: Zeb 1501 Rev)
Noise Assessment (Ref: P20532 R01v1)

3.8

In accordance with Article 15 (7) of The Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), full details of the
application have been published on the Council’s website. As such, Members will
have had the opportunity to review the submitted plans and documents in order to
familiarise themselves with the proposals prior to consideration and determination of
the application accordingly.

4.

Planning Policy

4.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the Act’) establishes the legislative
framework for consideration of this application. Section 70(2) of the Act requires the
decision-maker in determining planning applications/appeals to have regard to the
Development Plan, insofar as it is material to the application/appeal, and to any
Other material consideration. Where the Development Plan is material to the
development proposal it must therefore be taken into account. Section 38(6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the application/appeal to be
determined in accordance with the Plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

4.2

The Development Plan for Worcester includes:



The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) which was adopted
February 2016, and;
The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, which was adopted on December 2012.

Page 78

South Worcestershire Development Plan
4.3

The following policies of the SWDP are considered to be relevant to the proposal:
SWDP
SWDP
SWDP
SWDP
SWDP
SWDP
SWDP
SWDP
SWDP
SWDP
SWDP

4: Moving Around South Worcestershire
6: Historic Environment
21: Design
22: Biodiversity and Geodiversity
25: Landscape Character
27: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
28: Management of Flood Risk
29: Sustainable Drainage Systems
30: Water Resources, Efficiency and Treatment
33: Waste
44: Worcester City – Allocation Policies

The Waste Core Strategy for Worcestershire - Adopted Waste Local Plan
2012-2027
4.4

The Waste Local Plan was adopted by Worcestershire County Council on 15
November 2012 and is a plan outlining how to manage all the waste produced in
Worcestershire up to 2027. The following policies are relevant to this application:
WCS1 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development)
WCS3 (Re-use and recycle)
WCS17 (Making provision for waste in new development)
Material Considerations
1. National Planning Policy Framework
2. National Planning Practice Guidance
3. Supplementary Planning Documents

4.5

The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) are relevant to the
application proposals:



South Worcestershire Design SPD
Planning for Health in South Worcestershire SPD
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy SPD

4. Other material considerations
4.6

The following documents are considered are relevant to the application proposals
however due to the documents not being planning documents and therefore not
adopted the weight attached to the decision should be considered as limited:



Worcestershire’s Local Transport Plan (LTP4) 2018 – 2030
Worcestershire County Council Streetscape Design Guide (2020)
Worcester City Centre Masterplan

Page 79

5.

Planning History

5.1 The site has been the subject of the following planning applications:
P03L0434 Outline application for B1 workshops with single person flats above.
Refused Sep 25 September 2003
P05D0317 Erection of three storey office block with ground floor parking.
Withdrawn 5 July 2005
P05D0537 Erection of a three storey office block with ground floor parking.
Refused 3 November 2005
Pre-application Engagement
The applicant sought pre-application advice in 2020 under 20/00697/PA for three
storey building with 4no 2B apartments set out over first and second floors with 2no.
Commercial units (Class E) at ground floor. The Local Planning Authority gave the
following advice on 24 November 2020. The advice was as follows:
In the South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016, the site falls within an
“Opportunity Zone” (SWDP 44, Table 17, Policy Reference SWDP44/5
“Blockhouse/Carden Street), which encourages mixed use development.
It should be noted that two previous applications have been refused for similar
proposals on the site and an appeal dismissed (see applications P03L0434 and
P05D0537 in the Planning History section above).
In terms of the sketch proposals, in my informal opinion the general scale and
massing of the 3 storey building would be acceptable, although the use of good
quality durable materials would be essential opposite a historic building (The Fownes
Hotel) and adjacent to Tannery Mews. I consider that the flat roofed design is a
reasonable design transition between Tannery Mews and the lower scale industrial
uses to the north and west. A potential future planning application should contain a
Design and Access statement that fully explain the relationship between the proposed
scheme and surrounding development, including any windows that overlook the site.
The balconies provide a welcome addition in providing some outside space as well as
an added visual element break to the front elevation. The flat roof could be a sedum
roof or similar. Sustainable drainage would also be essential.
Some concerns regarding the two ground floor Class E units could cause potential
noise/nuisance conflicts with the residential occupiers above as well as issues with
deliveries, parking and waste/rubbish storage. It is acknowledged that a mixed use
scheme is encouraged by SWDP44 (Table 17) but given the limited size of the site and
the proposals, it may prove a better alternative to amend the proposals to 6
apartments. It was considered that this would result in residential uses being
prevalent across the whole of the defined Opportunity Zone (SWDP 44).
This would also allow the design to be amended on the ground floor, so that with the
two Class E units becoming apartments, they could be recessed in order to allow small
outside /defensible space to replicate the balconies of the flats above.

Page 80

It should be noted that the Economic Development Officer suggests that it may be
preferable to see the site developed as part of a wider scheme, rather than a small
piecemeal standalone development.
Introducing residential uses near to industrial/commercial activity has the potential for
obvious conflicts in terms of noise and nuisance and it would be important that
existing commercial activities are not constrained by the introduction of new housing.
It will be essential therefore that appropriate noise assessment information
accompanies any planning application. It may be beneficial that this issue is fully
explored with WRS prior to a formal application being made.
6.
6.1

Consultations
Formal consultation, including display of site notices, has been undertaken in respect
of the application. The following comments from statutory and non-statutory
consultees and interested third parties have been received in relation to the original
and amended proposals and are summarised as follows:
Neighbours and other third party comments: Objections have been received
from the occupants of neighbouring businesses on grounds relating to the following
matters:
- Miller and Lloyd Limited, South Street, Worcester – the only access to my business
is along South Street. The proposed development would cause issues for my
business and may finish it off. Continual access is needed along South Street for the
business and should the proposed development result in additional vehicles,
pedestrians or parking on the road, this would cause me access issues. There would
also be no turning space for the development so vehicles would have to reverse out
onto City Walls Road, which would be dangerous.
The noise assessment may not be correct. The development would result in many
interruptions to the running of Miller and Lloyd, causing bankruptcy. Dust and dirt in
the air that would be sucked into the Paint Booth ruining the painting process.
Construction traffic would block access to the garage. There would be massive
inconvenience to businesses along South Street and The Fownes Hotel. I believe I
would have the right to claim compensation for the consequential loss of and
damage to business. This would be never enough to cover the stress and distress
caused and probably not enough to cover to maintain the viability of my business.
- Seats and Sofas, 6 Tannery Mews, Carden Street, Worcester – Do not object to the
development of the site but 6 mixed use uses would represent overdevelopment of
the site. A residential development in this commercial area of the city would not be
appropriate as the noise and traffic would cause disturbance to domestic occupiers.
South Street may get blocked as a result of the development.
Worcester City Council Archaeological Officer: A programme of archaeological
mitigation is recommended.
Worcester City Council Landscape and Biodiversity Adviser: No objections
Worcestershire County Council (Highway Authority): No objection subject to
conditions

Page 81

Worcestershire Regulatory Services:
Noise: The submitted noise assessment appears satisfactory and predicts that noise
from road traffic and the surrounding commercial activities could be adequately
controlled with the recommended noise mitigation measures relating to glazing,
ventilation and partial screening of the balconies. The assessment also recommends
noise limits for any external plant/ equipment associated with the ground floor
commercial units. Therefore, I would not have any objection to the application in
terms of noise.
Odour: The proposed development is in close proximity to the paint spray-booth
associated with car workshop. Odour from paint spraying has the potential to
significantly impact future residents. Should the application be granted and
subsequently complaints of odour nuisance are referred to WRS this could negatively
impact the car workshop business. Therefore, I formally object to the application in
terms of potential odour nuisance from the paint spray-booth.
South Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership: No objection - The applicant
should follow a sustainable approach to water management. An advisory note
regarding the use or re- use of sewer connections is recommended.
Canal and River Trust: No comment.
6.2

Members have been given the opportunity to read all representations that have been
received in full. At the time of writing this report no other consultation responses
have been received. Any additional responses received will be reported to members
verbally or in the form of a late paper, subject to the date of receipt.

6.3

In assessing the proposal due regard has been given to local residents comments as
material planning considerations. Nevertheless, I am also mindful that decisions
should not be made solely on the basis of the number of representations, whether
they are for or against a proposal. The Localism Act has not changed this, nor has it
changed the advice that local opposition or support for a proposal is not in itself a
ground for refusing or granting planning permission unless it is founded on valid
planning reasons.

7.

Planning Assessment

7.1

Policy SWDP1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan sets out overarching
sustainable development principles and these are consistent with the Framework.
The various impacts of the development have to be assessed and the benefit and
adverse impacts considered, to establish whether what is proposed is sustainable
development having regard to the 3 dimensions of sustainability set out in the
Framework.
The Principle of Development

7.2

In the South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016, the site falls within an
“Opportunity Zone” (SWDP 44, Table 17, Policy Reference SWDP44/5
“Blockhouse/Carden Street), which encourages mixed use development which
suggests a total of approximately 120 dwellings can be accommodated in the wider
area over the whole of the area.

Page 82

7.3

Policy SWDP 44 states;
‘Redevelopment proposals for the Opportunity Zones will be supported providing
they:
i. Incorporate a range and variety of land uses to create a truly mixed-use
development;
ii. Make a contribution to achieving the SWDP objective for new B1 office space in
Worcester;
iii. Will not result in residential development being the predominant use across the
Opportunity Zone as a whole.
iv. Offer genuine, sustainable travel choices.
v. Do not result in retail or leisure dominating the other land uses within the zone.
vi. Enhance views over the historic city centre.
vii. Secure the refurbishment and future of listed buildings and structures within the
zone.
viii. Encourage existing businesses to remain or alternatively provide suitable
relocation opportunities.
D. Proposals for single uses in an Opportunity Zone will be evaluated for their
contribution and effect on the overall mix of uses in the area’.

7.4

In the context of Policy SWDP44, the proposed mixed use of the site would be
acceptable in principle. It should be noted that Class E allows a wide range of
commercial uses and further clarification on the use class should be conditioned if
planning permission should be granted. As the application is not supported by a
Sequential Test, the use of the commercial units for retail would not be appropriate
as there would be appropriate units available within the City Centre.
Design

7.5

Policy SWDP 21 of the Development Plan states that the siting and layout of a
development should reflect the given characteristics of the site in terms of its
appearance and function. Further the policy advises that development proposals
must complement the character of the area. In particular, development should
respond to surrounding buildings and the distinctive features or qualities that
contribute to the visual and heritage interest of the townscape, frontages, streets
and landscape quality of the local area. On scale, height and massing, Policy SWDP
21 states that the scale, height and massing of development must be appropriate to
the setting of the site and the surrounding landscape character and townscape,
including existing urban grain and density.

7.6

In terms of the design of the proposal, the three storey flat roofed appearance of the
building would be acceptable given the scale, bulk and form of the surrounding
buildings.

7.7

However, it is considered that the design details of the proposed building would
detract from the street scene. The front (South Street) elevation would have a lot of
full height glazing in it, at all three levels.

Page 83

In the context of the surrounding buildings (the adjacent Seats and Sofas building
and the Fownes Hotel on the opposite side of South Street), this would not be
compatible. These buildings have rather smaller openings in them (as do the
dwellings on the opposite side of City Walls Road). In relation to these buildings, the
proposed development would appear as a jarring and discordant feature of the street
scene. Moreover, the central expanse of blank wall at first and second floor levels of
the proposed building would further detract from the character of the street scene
along South Street.

Figure 2- South Elevation
7.8

When viewed from the rear, from Carden Street, the proposed development would
also have an adverse impact. At three stories in height (around 9.5m), it would be
around 4m taller than the Miller and Lloyd car washing and paint spraying premises
to the rear of the site (fronting Carden Street). The proposed blank rear elevation of
the building would accordingly project above the Miller and Lloyd building by this
amount. Moreover, as the building would be slightly staggered to the side of the
Miller and Lloyd building, its blank flank elevation would also be visible from Carden
Street. Its largely blank and deep appearance (albeit the third floor would be set
back from the floors below and with a different material) would further exacerbate
the harm to the street scene that the development would cause. The other flank
elevation would also be visible from Carden Street, above the buildings along it and
while not as visually impacting as it would be largely screened by them, it would
nevertheless serve to emphasise the bulk and massing of the proposed building and
the adverse impact it would have upon the street scene.

Figure 3 – Rear and Side Elevations
7.9

The proposals due to the proximity to the boundaries of the site would also be
potentially impact on the neighbouring development and the proposals are not
significant to deliver wider regeneration or act as an “agent for change”.

Page 84

Figure 4 – 3D images
7.10

The proposed development is therefore contrary to Policy SWDP21 of the South
Worcestershire Development Plan (2016), the South Worcestershire Design Guide
Supplementary Planning Document (2018) and the National Planning Policy
Framework (2021).
Future Amenity of Residents

7.11

In terms of the impact upon the amenity of the neighbouring and surrounding
properties, the proposed development would be acceptable. The development would
be over 20m from the Fownes Hotel to the south, along Clare Street, and over this
distance, the proposal would not have an overbearing or visually intrusive
appearance and would not result in the overlooking of or loss of privacy for the
occupiers of the hotel, particularly given that much of the guest accommodation at
first and second floor levels is set back from the ground floor front elevation of the
building by around 7m.
The amenities of the occupiers of the nearby flats in Tannery Mews (fronting City
Walls Road) would not be harmed by the proposal either due to the distance involved
and the intervening Sofas and Seats building.

Page 85

7.12

In terms of the amenity of the future occupiers of the site, the individual flats would
provide a suitable level of accommodation. They and their individual rooms would
exceed the minimum flat and room sizes contained in the Nationally Described
Technical Housing Standards document (2015) and would be provided with suitably
sized balconies which would provide sufficient external amenity space.

7.13

The flats would be south- facing and by virtue of the extensive glazing serving their
front elevations, they would receive sufficient sunlight and daylight. The flats would
be around 8.5m deep and while the first floor flats would be overshadowed to a
degree by the balconies serving the second floor flats, it is considered that on
balance, the light reaching them would be acceptable. The single aspect nature of
the flats is, on balance, also considered acceptable. The outlook for their future
occupiers, including from bedroom 2 of each of the flats (immediately adjacent to
flank walls of the projecting element at first and second floor levels) would be
acceptable. Moreover, in the event that the development is found acceptable in all
regards, amended plans could be sought proposing windows in the flank elevations
of the building at first and second floor levels and in the rear elevation at second
floor level, allowing light to all of the kitchens in the development.

7.14

Notwithstanding the above, the amenities of the future occupiers would be impacted
upon by the proposed commercial use at ground floor level and the adjacent car
paint spraying business and other environmental noises. The submitted noise
assessment appears satisfactory and predicts that noise from road traffic and the
surrounding commercial activities could be adequately controlled with the
recommended noise mitigation measures relating to glazing, ventilation and partial
screening of the balconies. The assessment also recommends noise limits for any
external plant/ equipment associated with the ground floor commercial units. No
objections are raised in terms of these considerations.

7.15

However, the application site is in close proximity to the car paint spray premises at
Miller and Lloyd (immediately to the rear of the site). Concern has been raised by
Environmental Services that the odour from the paint spraying has the potential to
significantly impact upon the amenities of the future residents of the development.
Considering that the paint spraying may be undertaken 6 days a week, this would
have the potential to significantly impact upon the amenities of the future occupiers
of the development, particularly in the summer months when windows are more
likely to be open and the balconies are more likely to be in use. The smell of paint
over, potentially, several hours per day, would have a significant and harmful impact
upon the amenities of the future occupiers of the development. The proposal is
therefore contrary to Policy SWDP21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan
(2016), the South Worcestershire Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
(2018) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).
Ecology and Wildlife

7.16

Having regard to Policy SWDP 22 and the application proposals and the cleared
nature of the site, it is considered unlikely that any protected species are present
there and that no harmful impacts for wildlife would arise from the proposed
development. No issues have been raised during the course of the planning
application and the consultation response of the Council’s Landscape and Biodiversity
Advisor should be noted.

Page 86

Parking, Highways and Traffic Generation
7.17

The NPPF and the requirement of the Act states that decisions should be made in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material circumstances indicate
otherwise. The NPPF and on site observations are a material consideration.

7.18

The application of the Streetscape Design Guide as an other material consideration
carries moderate weight as amendments since its original adoption have not been
through formal consultation and it does not therefore carry the same weight as an
SPD. It is important to consider flexibility and have regard to individual site
circumstances when applying Policy SWDP 4 of the Development Plan and related
guidance.

7.19

Policy SWDP 4 requires new development to minimise demand for travel by private
cars and encourages active travel. Para 111 of the NPPF states development should
only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network
would be severe.

7.20

No parking is proposed in the scheme. However, given the close proximity of the site
to the city centre and public transport links, and the presence of on-street parking
restrictions, the site is considered to be in an appropriate location to not provide onsite car parking. The development would not have a harmful impact upon safety
through traffic generation or on-street parking. Moreover, the proposed development
would provide secure, covered cycle parking for two cycles per flat.

7.21

It is considered that deliveries to and from the commercial units would be limited in
nature and would not have a harmful impact upon the safety and operation of the
surrounding highway network.

7.22

The development incorporates an area for refuse storage. While it would appear to
be insufficient to cater for the refuse and recycling needs for four flats and two
commercial units, it could be amended to be larger, for the flats, while the refuse
requirements of the commercial units may be met within the units themselves.
Refuse collection from the site may be undertaken in the normal manner.
Drainage and Flooding

7.23

The site is located is located in Flood Zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of
flooding. The form of development proposed in this application is therefore suitable
for the site.

7.24

The Canal and River Trust has no comments with the proposed development while
no objections are raised to the scheme concerning water usage of the impact of the
development upon the sewer network.
Archaeology

7.25

In accordance with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework and
Policies of the Development Plan, the proposals require assessment of the site in
terms of the potential for archaeological remains that are at this time
undocumented.

7.26

It is possible that the site contains human or historical remains given the former
presence of a Franciscan Friary adjacent to the site.

Page 87

While an archaeological evaluation in 2003 did not discover any details of this, it is
recommended that a programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation be
undertaken for the site. This may be conditioned in the event that the development
be found acceptable.
Other Matters and Issues Raised:
7.27

The shared access for both the residential and the commercial elements of the
proposed development would not be an ideal arrangement for the site. Harm to the
amenity of the residents of the site would likely arise from such an arrangement,
their being exposed to potential noise/ dust/ dirt/ fumes from the commercial
premises at close quarters when their doors are open. The proposed development is
therefore contrary to Policy SWDP21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan
(2016), the South Worcestershire Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
(2018) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).

7.28

The issues raised by the occupiers of the neighbouring premises are noted. However,
it is not known that the proposal would unreasonably restrict access along South
Street and therefore adversely impact upon the nearby business. In the event of the
proposed development being found acceptable, a condition requiring the submission
of a Construction Traffic Management Plan including the hours of delivery to the site,
may be imposed upon the permission, thereby limiting the hours of delivery to the
site. Given that the development would be car- free, it is not known that it would
cause cars to need to reverse onto City Walls Road. Vehicles and cars that already
use South Street to access other premises would not need to reverse along the road
either as they would be able to turn within their own premises. Pedestrian safety
would not be harmed either given that the development would be car- free and
would not result in on- street parking.

7.29

The comments regarding the dust and dirt in the air arising from the scheme
affecting the adjacent paint spraying business are noted though it is not considered
that this is sufficient a reason to refuse the application. Whether compensation for
the consequential loss of and damage to business would be payable is not an issue
for consideration in this application.

8.

Conclusion and planning balance

8.1

The NPPF identifies a series of the components that are considered critical to
achieving sustainable development. In my opinion, the above assessment of the
planning application proposals against the planning policy framework demonstrates
that the application responds to, and is in accordance with, the requirements of the
adopted planning policy within the development plan and material considerations
relevant to the determination of the application.

8.2

The Council can currently demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply, and therefore,
its relevant housing policies are not out of date. Where a development is found to be
sustainable development, a presumption in favour applies. In accordance with Policy
SWDP1 the decision taker should grant planning permission for such developments,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise or, where specific policies in the
Development Plan or material considerations indicate development should be
restricted.

Page 88

8.3

This development would assist in delivering the objectively assessed housing need
for South Worcestershire over the plan period to 2030 ensuring that there is an
adequate supply of land for housing. It would also make a meaningful contribution
towards affordable housing need. These are factors in support of the development to
which substantial weight should be attached.

8.4

The proposed development would result in some economic benefits; employment
during construction and thereafter upon the occupation of the dwellings and the
commercial units it is likely that the occupants would contribute towards maintaining
the vitality of the area. For this role of sustainable development, the balance would
clearly be in favour of granting planning permission.

8.5

With regard to the social role, the delivery of homes in this location would contribute
to the continued economic and social sustainability of the City. This is a factor to
which I also attach significant weight.

8.6

In respect of potential adverse impacts, the proposal has generated a number of
objections and many of these focus around the impact on neighbouring commercial
operations. However, the adjacent car paint spraying business would, as a result if
the associated odours, have an adverse impact for the future occupiers of the flats.
The proposals would also potentially impact on the delivery of wider regeneration
and being small scale and piecemeal in nature would raise issues that cannot be
addressed through amendment.

8.7

These are significant concerns which are to be given appropriate weighting in the
determination of this application. On balance, the submitted scheme is therefore
considered to be contrary to the policies of the Development Plan and National
Planning Policy Framework when considered as a whole.

8.8

All comments received as part of the consultation process and consider all material
planning issues have been considered in the determination of this application. Having
regard to the totality of the policies in the Framework. The adverse impacts of the
development significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Overall, it is
considered that the proposals would be contrary to policies of the Development Plan
as a whole.

9.

Recommended Reasons for Refusal

9.1

Having considered all matters the application is recommended for refusal for the
following reasons:
1.

By virtue of the extent of the full height glazing at all three levels in the front
elevation of the proposed building and its blank flank and rear elevations and
the size of the proposal, projecting above the two storey business premises to
the rear of the site, the proposed development would have an adverse impact
upon the street scene. The impact would be exacerbated by the size, bulk and
massing of the proposed development and its prominence in the street scene.
The proposed development is therefore contrary to Policy SWDP21 of the
South Worcestershire Development Plan (2016), the South Worcestershire
Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (2018) and the National
Planning Policy Framework (2021).

2.

By virtue of its nature and the odour arising from it, the adjacent paint
spraying business would have a significant and harmful impact upon the
amenities of the future occupiers of the development.

Page 89

The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy SWDP21 of the South
Worcestershire Development Plan (2016), the South Worcestershire Design
Guide Supplementary Planning Document (2018) and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2021).

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 91

Agenda Item 10

Application Number

22/00276/HP

Site Address

109 Canada Way, WORCESTER, WR2 4XD

Description of
Development

Proposed two storey front and side extension, single
storey rear and front porch extension.

Expiry Date

24 June 2022

Applicant

Mr & Mrs Bedford

Agent

Mrs Melissa Watson

Case Officer

Miss Ruth Lambert
ruth.lambert@worcester.gov.uk

Ward

Bedwardine Ward

Reason for Referral to
Committee

Ward Member referral

Key Issues

The principle of development and whether the proposal
would be sustainable form of development having regard
to the 3 dimensions of sustainable development in terms
of its economic role, social role and environmental role.
https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/22/00276
/HP

Web link to application

Recommendation

The Corporate Director - Planning and Governance
recommends that the Planning Committee grants
planning permission subject to conditions as set
out in Section 9 of this report.

1. Background
1.1

The application was registered on 31 March 2022 and was due for a decision on 26
May 2022. An extension of time for the determination of the application has been
agreed to 24 June 2022 to allow determination by the Planning Committee.

1.2

The application has been referred to the Planning Committee in accordance with the
adopted Scheme of Delegation. The application has been referred to the Planning
Committee at the request of Councillor Alan Amos.

Page 92

Page 93

2.
2.1

The site and surrounding area
The application site is a relatively modern detached four bedroom dwelling at the end
of a private road. The application property is one of four properties which are
relatively large with large gardens with a detached double garage at the front of the
property. To the rear of the site is Worcester Golf and Country Club.

Figure 1 – Location Plan
3.

The proposals

3.1

The application proposals are for extensions and alterations in four parts:
- Single storey rear extension measuring approximately 6m by 3m
- Two storey side extension measuring approximately 6m by 2.35m
- Front porch single storey extension measuring approximately 3.9m by 1.5m
- Two storey front extension measuring approximately 4.75m by 1.25m

Page 94

Figure 2 – Proposed Floor Plans
3.2
The application is accompanied by a full set of plans together with a suite of
supporting
documents that include:
Existing Floor Plans (Drawing Number: 22 185 1)
Existing Elevations (Drawing Number: 22 185 2)
Proposed Floor Plans (Drawing Number: 22 185 3)
Proposed Elevations (Drawing Number: 22 185 4)
Location Plans (Drawing Number: 22 185 5)
Proposed Site Plan (Drawing Number: 22 185 6)
Water Management Statement
3.3

4.

In accordance with Article 15 (7) of The Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), full details of the
application have been published on the Council’s website. As such, Members will
have had the opportunity to review the submitted plans and documents in order to
familiarise themselves with the proposals prior to consideration and determination of
the application accordingly.
Planning Policy

Page 95

4.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the Act’) establishes the legislative
framework for consideration of this application.
Section 70(2) of the Act requires the decision-maker in determining planning
applications/appeals to have regard to the Development Plan, insofar as it is material
to the application/appeal, and to any other material consideration. Where the
Development Plan is material to the development proposal it must therefore be
taken into account. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 requires the application/appeal to be determined in accordance with the Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

4.2

The Development Plan for Worcester comprises:



The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) which was adopted
February 2016, and;
The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, which was adopted on December 2012.

South Worcestershire Development Plan
4.3

The following policies of the SWDP are considered to be relevant to the proposal:
SWDP 4 Moving Around South Worcestershire
SWDP 21 Design
SWDP 38 Green Space
The Waste Core Strategy for Worcestershire - Adopted Waste Local Plan
2012-2027

4.4

The Waste Local Plan was adopted by Worcestershire County Council on 15
November 2012 and is a plan outlining how to manage all the waste produced in
Worcestershire up to 2027. The following policies are relevant to this application:
WCS1

(Presumption in favour of sustainable development)

Material Considerations
1. National Planning Policy Framework
2. National Planning Practice Guidance
3. Supplementary Planning Documents
4.5

The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) are relevant to the
application proposals:

South Worcestershire Design SPD

Other material circumstances
4.6

The following other documents are relevant to the application proposals:

Worcestershire County Council Streetscape Design Guide (2020)

Page 96

5.

Planning History
The site has been the subject of the following planning applications:
P91C0022 - Outline application for residential development. Approved 9 December
1991
P92C0200 - Housing development. Approved 11 June 1992

6.
6.1

Consultations
Formal consultation, including display of site notices, has been undertaken in respect
of the application. The following comments from statutory and non-statutory
consultees and interested third parties have been received in relation to the original
and amended proposals and are summarised as follows:
Neighbours and other third party comments: No comments have been received.
Worcestershire County Council (Highway Authority): No objection
Worcester City Council Landscape and Biodiversity Advisor: No objection to
the proposal, and the existing roof space remains undisturbed. However, a qualified
ecologist should be kept "on call" during any roof/tile works to attach the extension
and if any evidence of bats is found work must stop for advice to be taken.

6.2

Members have been given the opportunity to read all representations that have been
received in full. At the time of writing this report no other consultation responses
have been received. Any additional responses received will be reported to members
verbally or in the form of a late paper, subject to the date of receipt.

7.

Planning Assessment

7.1

Policy SWDP1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan sets out overarching
sustainable development principles and these are consistent with the Framework.
The various impacts of the development have to be assessed and the benefit and
adverse impacts considered, to establish whether what is proposed is sustainable
development.
The Principle of Development

7.2

The application site is located within the urban area and is an established residential
property which sits in its own grounds. The extensions would be closely related to
the existing residential property and would not impact on the wider area.
Design and Character of the Area

7.3

Policy SWDP 21 of the Development Plan states that the siting and layout of a
development should reflect the given characteristics of the site in terms of its
appearance and function. Further the policy advises that development proposals
must complement the character of the area. In particular, development should
respond to surrounding buildings and the distinctive features or qualities that
contribute to the visual and heritage interest of the townscape, frontages, streets
and landscape quality of the local area. On scale, height and massing, Policy SWDP
21 states that the scale, height and massing of development must be appropriate to
the setting of the site and the surrounding landscape character and townscape,
including existing urban grain and density. The Council’s Design Guide SPD has also
been given careful consideration, in particular Section 8 which supports Policy SWDP

Page 97

21 in providing guidance for house extensions.

Figure 3 – Proposed Block Plan
7.4

In assessing the proposals and consideration of the application on its own merits, it
is appropriate to assess the application based on the above criteria set out in policy.
It would be inappropriate, contrary to the requirements of policy and misleading to
present percentage figures or use this as a basis for determination or consideration
of the application.

Figure 4 – Proposed Elevations
7.5

Having considered the merits of the application it is considered that the proposals
are in keeping with the character of the existing property and would not impact on
the wider character with the property continuing to be set in a generous setting.

Page 98

The extensions individually and cumulatively would not result in overdevelopment or
change the urban grain and density of the site.
7.6

Overall, the proposals are considered to be in accordance with Policy SWDP 21 of the
Development Plan.
Impact on neighbouring amenity

7.7

Policy SWDP 21 sets out that the proposals should not impact on the amenities of
neighbours.

7.8

The proposals would be set off the boundary and would not impact on neighbouring
residential amenity. There would be no overlooking from the proposed extensions.
The proposals would be in accordance with Policy SWDP 21.
Access and Highway Safety

7.9

Policy SWDP 4 (in particular Part A and B) support a reduction in the level of parking
provision. This is in keeping with national policy and the aims of Government and
also managing traffic, climate change and other matters such as air quality and
pollution.

7.10

In accordance with Para 111 of the NPPF states Development should only be
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact
on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be
severe.

7.11

The proposals would not increase the number of bedrooms and it is noted that the
Highway Authority raise no objection. There is sufficient space on site for appropriate
car parking.

7.12

Overall, the proposals are considered to be in accordance with Policy SWDP 4 of the
Development Plan.
Biodiversity

7.13 Policies SWDP22 and SWDP38 of the Development Plan are noted. Policy SWDP 38
aims to protect open spaces identified on the Policies Map, together with numerous
incidental open spaces too small to include but that nonetheless contribute to the
quality and character of their local areas. These small local spaces are often valued
and used heavily by local communities and are therefore worthy of policy protection.
Whilst most open spaces are publicly accessible, some are in private ownership,
although they nonetheless perform valuable functions such as contributing to
biodiversity, the character of the area and providing a sense of openness and space.
7.14 The proposals would not impact on any existing trees or alter the character of the
area. The comments of the Council’s Landscape and Biodiversity Officer are noted.
The proposals would not impact on any protected species.
7.15 As such the proposals are in accordance with Policies SWDP22 and SWDP38 of the
Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Page 99

8.

Conclusion and planning balance

8.1

The NPPF identifies a series of the components that are considered critical to
achieving sustainable development. In my opinion, the above assessment of the
planning application proposals against the planning policy framework demonstrates
that the application responds to, and is in accordance with, the requirements of the
adopted planning policy within the development plan and material considerations
relevant to the determination of the application.

8.2

Where a development is found to be sustainable development, a presumption in
favour applies.
In accordance with Policy SWDP1 the decision taker should grant planning
permission for such developments, unless material considerations indicate otherwise
or, where specific policies in the Development Plan or material considerations
indicate development should be restricted.

8.3 The proposed development would result in some economic benefits; employment
during construction. For this role of sustainable development, the balance would
clearly be in favour of granting planning permission.
8.4 With regard to the social role, the improvements to the existing housing stock also
weighs in favour of the application.
8.5 Environmentally the application is considered to be well designed and would not have
a significant or material impact on the character of the area or the amenities of
neighbours.
8.6 There are no significant concerns to which weight could be given in the determination
of this application. There are no objections to the proposal and the development is in
accordance with the guidance set down at national and local level.
8.7 On balance, the submitted scheme is considered well designed and appropriate to the
character of the area. Considering all material planning issues and having regard to
the totality of the policies in the Framework, the proposed development is sustainable
when looking at its social, economic and environmental credentials that accords with
the Framework and the Development Plan as a whole.
9.

Recommended Conditions
In the event that Members are minded to grant planning permission the following
planning conditions are recommended:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed in
accordance with the following approved plans and the specifications and
recommendations contained therein, except where otherwise stipulated by
conditions attached to this permission
Existing Floor Plans (Drawing Number: 22 185 1)

Page 100
Existing Elevations (Drawing Number: 22 185 2)
Proposed Floor Plans (Drawing Number: 22 185 3)
Proposed Elevations (Drawing Number: 22 185 4)
Location Plan (Drawing Number: 22 185 5)
Proposed Site Plan (Drawing Number: 22 185 6)
Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved scheme
3. All new masonry shall be finished externally in materials to match in form, texture
and colour those of the existing building.
Reason - To ensure that the new materials are in keeping with the surroundings
and/or represent quality design in accordance with policy SWDP21 of the South
Worcestershire Development Plan.
Informative:
1. As a precautionary approach, it is recommended that a licensed bat worker remains
‘on call’ during the development works. In the event that roosting bats are
discovered work must cease immediately and the on-call ecologist contacted, they
will liaise with Natural England (as required) to advise on any licensing
requirements to allow lawful completion of the work.

